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KEY FIGURES 

CPI BYTY in numbers – 2013 

 

 

  

480,304 
Gross rental income  

(in thousands of CZK) 
7,571,869 
Investment property 

(in thousands of CZK) 

3,336,093 
Equity 

(in thousands of CZK) 

75.47% 
Occupancy rate (apartments) 

 

268,932 
Operating profit 

(in thousands of CZK) 

12,557 
Number of apartments 

 

76 
Number of employees 

 
8,189,028 
Total assets 

(in thousands of CZK) 
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PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE ANNUAL REPORT 2013 

Statutory Declaration 

With the use of all reasonable care and to the best of our knowledge, the Annual Report 2013 provides a true 

and fair view of the financial situation, business activities, and results of operations of the company CPI BYTY, a.s. 

for 2013, and of the outlook for the future development of the financial situation, business activities, and results 

of operations of the company CPI BYTY, a.s. No facts have been omitted that could change the meaning of this 

report.  

 

Prague, 18 April 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

KRISTÍNA MAGDOLENOVÁ   ZDENĚK HAVELKA 

Chairman of the Board of Directors  Member of the Board of Directors 

CPI BYTY, a.s.     CPI BYTY, a.s. 
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A CUT ABOVE CPI BYTY 

The company CPI BYTY, a.s. (hereinafter also referred to as "CPI BYTY" or “the Company”) is the second largest 

provider of rental housing in the Czech Republic. The residential portfolio of CPI BYTY currently totals 12,557 

apartments in the North Moravia, North Bohemia and Middle Bohemia region including Prague. The real estate 

portfolio is complemented by non-residential premises which are rented at market rents. The core business of 

CPI BYTY is the lease and facility management of its own properties. Employees of CPI BYTY provide tenants with 

comprehensive rental and management services.  

The goal of the Company is to develop a potential of its real estate portfolio and to increase its commercial value. 

Cooperation with tenants and support of mutual relationship are the key points for prosperous rental housing 

business. 

 

CPI BYTY is a member of CPI Group, a real estate group concentrating on long-term investments and the lease of 

real estate, mainly in the Central European region. It has been operating on the real estate market since the end 

of 1990s. The parent company of the Group is Czech Property Investments, a.s.  

CPI Group develops its activities mainly in the Czech Republic and Slovakia across all real estate segments. In 

recent years, CPI Group has successfully established itself among the leading investors and developers in the 

domestic real estate market and during the last year it has also expanded within Europe. Its conservative and 

responsible approach laid the foundation for stability and long-term prosperity of the whole Group supported 

with years of experience and strong financial base. 

The Group owns and manages over 610,000 sq. m. of retail space, about 407,000 sq. m. of existing office space, 

17 hotels with about 8,000 beds and about 212,000 sq. m. of space intended for light industry and storage. With 

over 12,600 apartments, it is the second largest provider of rental housing in the Czech Republic.  

The goal of CPI Group is to develop the potential of its real estate portfolio, to create a new business 

opportunities and increase its commercial value. Cooperation with tenants and support of mutual relationships 

are the key points for its success. 
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MESSAGE FROM THE DIRECTOR OF CPI BYTY 

Dear Shareholder, 

Dear Business Partners, 

 

 

I would like to briefly describe the last year 2013 in this part of the annual report. 

 

As in the few last years, we have focused our attention and efforts on improving of the management of our large-

scale residential portfolio. CPI BYTY is the second largest provider of rental housing in the Czech Republic and we 

are fully aware of this position. At the end of 2013 CPI BYTY owned and managed over 12,500 flats in different 

cities of our country. Management of such huge portfolio puts high demands on the individual approach, 

improving our services and last but not least the effectiveness of our investment. 

 

In terms of investment, CPI BYTY invested in revitalization of its residential portfolio over CZK 300 million in 2013.  

The investment projects involved repairs of balconies, loggias, facades, roofs, building entrances, elevators, 

building insulations and electrical systems of common areas. We also constructed a new water supply system in 

Nový Borek and carried out activities related to utilities consumption savings. In order to reduce the cost of living 

we completed the change of heating supplier in Česká Lípa in 2013. This location was among the areas with the 

highest price of heating in our whole residential portfolio. We make all of the above mentioned steps with the 

aim to improve living standards for our current and future tenants and to create the rental housing as one of the 

possibilities of living. 

 

In addition to the “technical” aspect of the business activity of our Company, we were also focusing on improving 

the quality of our services provided to our tenants in the client centres in 2013. Valuable long-term relationships 

with our tenants represent one of the pillars of our Company’s success. 

 

And how are the above mentioned activities reflected in the financial results for the year 2013? The total assets 

amounted to CZK 8.2 billion, while the value of investment property increased from CZK 7.4 billion to CZK 

7.6 billion as at 31 December 2013. Profit for the period amounts to CZK 82 million. I positively evaluated the 

development of net rental and service related income, which amounted to a positive value of CZK 28 million. 

Financial results for 2013 were influenced by higher occupancy rate, which reached 75.5%, higher gross rental 

income, which rose by CZK 15 million in comparison to the previous year, but also by higher cost of repairs spent 

on the other hand. 

 

In the presenting financial statements as of 31 December 2013 you can see a significant change in our financing 

structure. CPI BYTY issued project bonds and repaid fully the bank loan granted by Raiffeisenbank a.s. CPI BYTY’s 

bonds were issued as a part of a bond programme with an overall volume of TCZK 3,800,000. The overall volume 

of any bonds issued under the bond programme must not at any time exceed TCZK 3,000,000. The separation 

into 4 issues enabled investors to choose the duration of their investment, from 2 to maximum 8 years with fixed 

coupons ranging from 2.5% to 5.8%. 
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Finally, let me thank all my colleagues who contributed to the achievement of our results for 2013, for their good 

work. All of us at CPI BYTY we are aware that we take steps towards a long-term, quality relationships with our 

tenants and to guarantee the prosperity of the company CPI BYTY, a.s. 

 

Prague, 18 April 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

DANIEL BACÍK 

Director 

CPI BYTY, a.s. 
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REPORT ON OPERATIONS 

COMPANY CPI BYTY 

CPI BYTY, a.s., with its registered office in Prague 1, Václavské náměstí 1601/47, postcode 110 00, Identification 

Number 262 28 700, was established on 14 November 2000 for an indefinite period of time. Its activities are 

carried out in accordance with the Czech law, pursuant to Act no. 90/2012 Coll., Business Corporation Act. 

According to article 4 of CPI BYTY’s Articles of Association effective as of 31 December 2013, the principal 

activities are as follows: 

 lease of real estate, apartments and non-residential premises, 

 manufactory, trade and services not listed in Annexes 1 to 3 to the Trades Licensing Act. 

 

CPI BYTY was recorded in the Commercial Register held by the Municipal Court in Prague, section B, insert 7990. 

The documents are kept in the Registry of Documents and at CPI BYTY. 

 

Contact details: 

CPI BYTY, a.s. 

Václavské náměstí 1601/47 

110 00 Prague 1 

Czech Republic 

tel.: +420 281 082 110 

fax: +420 281 082 150 

e-mail: info@cpibyty.cz 

www.cpibyty.cz 

 

The parent company of CPI BYTY is the company Czech Property Investments, a.s., with its registered office at 

Prague 1, Václavské náměstí 1601/47, postcode 110 00, Company Identification Number 427 16 161 that 

prepares consolidated financial statements and consolidated annual report in accordance with the International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the International Accounting Standards (IAS) as adopted by the 

European Union. 

 

No public bid for a takeover of CPI BYTY shares was made in 2013. CPI BYTY did not make any public bids for 

takeover of shares of other companies and its business was not interrupted. CPI BYTY was not involved in any 

judicial, administrative or arbitration proceedings which could have had a significant impact on its financial 

situation. 

CPI BYTY is not a party to any contracts that will take effect, be changed or terminated in the event of a change 

in the control of the Company due to a takeover bid. 

The Company did not enter into any contracts with members of the Board of Directors or employees, based on 

which it would be bound to provide consideration in the event of the termination of their office or employment 

in connection of a takeover bid. 

CPI BYTY did not create any programs, on the basis of which employees and members of the Board of Directors 

are allowed to acquire participating securities of the Company, options to such securities or other rights to them 

under favourable conditions. 
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ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT IN THE CZECH REPUBLIC 

The following macroeconomics data and description were published by the Czech Statistical Office (unless 

otherwise stated). 

 

Indicator Period 
Forecast 

2014* 

GDP 2013  -0.9% 1.4% 

CPI 2013 1.4% 1.0% 

ILO Unemployment rate 4Q 2013 6.8% 7.0% 

 * Source: Ministry of Finance of the Czech Republic    

 

The gross domestic product adjusted for price, seasonal, and calendar effects decreased in 2013 compared to 

2012 by 0.9%. 

Development of the demand at constant prices in 2013 (similarly as in 2012) was negatively influenced primarily 

by decrease of investments in fixed capital by 3.6% in total. In the Q4 2013, the gross fixed capital formation 

increased both y-o-y and q-o-q. In the second half-year (after stagnation in the first half-year) it was an increase 

in the final consumption expenditure of households and institutions of the general government, which 

contributed to the formation of the demand. Households paid in 2013 more, y-o-y, especially for housing 

(including energies), transport and transport equipment, clothing, telecommunication, and also for insurance. 

Compared to 2012, on the contrary, expenditure dropped mainly for food, recreation, and furniture. Contribution 

of external trade in goods to the overall demand was almost neutral with exports growing by 1.0% and imports 

by 0.9%.  

The year-on-year growth of consumer prices accelerated to 1.4% in December (1.1% in November). The same 

value, i.e. 1.4% reached also the average inflation rate in 2013 and was the lowest since 2009. The biggest upward 

effect on the y-o-y consumer price level, which was even strengthened in December, came from prices in 'food 

and non-alcoholic beverages'. Another more significant impact on the overall level of consumer prices came from 

prices in 'housing, water, electricity, gas and other fuels' and 'alcoholic beverages, tobacco'. The reduction of the 

y-o-y price growth came from the decrease in prices in 'communication', where prices of telephone and telefax 

services and prices of mobile phones were lower. 

The general unemployment rate according to the ILO definition in the age group 15-64 years (the share of the 

unemployed in the labour force, i.e. the sum of the employed and the unemployed) attained 6.8% in Q4 2013 

and decreased by 0.4 p.p. The number of unemployed persons reached 355.4 thousand (of which 189.4 thousand 

females) and the total number of the unemployed dropped by 24.1 thousand persons, year-on-year. 

 

 

RESIDENTIAL MARKET IN THE CZECH REPUBLIC 

The residential market in the Czech Republic was influenced by the following events in the past years. The EU 

accession of most countries in the region in 2004/2007 caused confidence in both domestic and foreign demand, 

and determined banks’ lending attitudes – leading to the housing boom. As early as May 2007, the subprime 

crisis mad its first impact on the CEE markets – out-flow of foreign investment capital. Starting in October 2008, 

the credit crunch started to affect the region – drawback of domestic demand. Finally, limited recovery of 

residential sector started after September 2010. 

In terms of economic factors, there is a clear distinction between the development prospects of the CEE countries 

in the years to come. The Czech Republic is forecast to see positive GDP figures. This should boost demand for 

housing in the coming years. One key indicator that shows the level of interest in the residential market is the 

mortgage market. 
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HB INDEX for residential units remained for the end of 2013 on to the same value as at the end of the Q3 2013, 

i.e. on 93.4. Its growth between Q2 and Q3 2013 stopped and this confirmed yearlong trend of motionless 

housing prices. HB Index is regularly presented by Hypoteční banka, a.s. and is based on realistic estimates of 

market prices of real estates. INDEX HB itself is calculated for the entire Czech Republic, and for the three types 

of real-estates - flats, houses and land. For Basic 100.0 were selected real estate prices as of 1 January 2008.  

The year 2013 was a year of historically lowest interest rates. In December 2013, the average interest rate was 

3.06%, which is the lowest level since the creation of the mortgage market in the Czech Republic in 1995. 

CPI BYTY operates on a specific part of the residential market in the Czech Republic due to the fact that its core 

business is concentrated on the rental housing. The rental housing segment was influenced by state rent 

regulation that was partially released by the adoption of Act No. 107/2006 Coll. on unilateral apartment rent 

increases. State authorities accepted requirements of property owners and established rules and rates, which 

had gradually increased a regulated rent in period of four years. The process of deregulation finally ended on 31 

December 2011 in all cities and municipalities with the exception of cities with over 100,000 inhabitants and 

Central Bohemian region, where the regulation ended on 31 December 2012.  

 

 

CPI BYTY PORTFOLIO 

The deregulation of rent in years 2010 – 2012 had a significant impact on the CPI BYTY portfolios. The first wave 

of deregulated rents came at the end of 2010. Rent was gradually increased depending on the agreement 

between the landlord and tenant. Deregulation for the remaining cities in the Czech Republic went into effect 

after 31 December 2012. For CPI BYTY, this concerned Prague, Slaný and Liberec. The years of undervalued rents, 

with limited management and investment in residential portfolios of rental housing, suddenly changed in January 

2013. Market conditions became more advantageous and the very low levels that had existed for such a long 

time began to significantly increase. This also had a positive effect on lease revenues. 

 

Basic statistics of CPI BYTY flat portfolios 
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Table 1 CPI BYTY apartments as of 31 December 2013 

City Apartments Cluster 

Česká Lípa 1 693 Česká Lípa 

Litvínov - Janov 612 Janov 

Jablonec 66 

Liberec Liberec 51 

Nové Město pod Smrkem 195 

Litvínov 2 074 
Litvínov 

Most 72 

Praha Letňany 591 Praha 

Třinec 4 021 
Třinec 

Český Těšín 368 

Ústí nad Labem 2 489 

Ústí nad Labem 

Teplice 22 

Chlumec 32 

Děčín 194 

Slaný 77 

 

Česká Lípa cluster 

Česká Lípa cluster includes almost 1,700 apartments in the city of Česká Lípa, which is a stable and balanced 

portfolio with additional investment potential. 

 

       

 
70.80 %  1,693 

 

 
 occupancy  number of apartments  

       

 59,449 ths. CZK  927,780 ths. CZK  
 annual rental income  investment property  

       

 107 ths. sqm  6.41 %  
 rentable space  gross return  
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Liberec cluster 

Liberec cluster includes apartments in Liberec, Nové Město pod Smrkem and Jablonec. Considering the number 

of housing units, this is a minor portfolio with long-term income stability. 

 

       

 
86.79 %  312 

 

 
 occupancy  number of apartments  

       

 11,468 ths. CZK  147,610 ths. CZK  
 annual rental income  investment property  

       

 20 ths. sqm  7.77 %  
 rentable space  gross return  

       

 

 

Litvínov cluster 

Litvínov cluster includes properties in Litvínov (except the location Litvínov – Janov), which CPI BYTY purchased 

in 2010. This residential portfolio has already been partially revitalized and is now included in several investment 

programs. 

 

       

 
69.45 %  2,146 

 

 
 occupancy  number of apartments  

       

 64,656 ths. CZK  976,550 ths. CZK  
 annual rental income  investment property  

       

 128 ths. sqm  6.62 %  
 rentable space  gross return  
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Janov cluster 

This cluster consists of apartments in Litvínov – Janov, which the Company purchased together with flats in 

Litvínov in the summer of 2010. Historically, Janov is a complicated area which faces years of unsolved problems 

due to their lower-class population. CPI BYTY decided to introduce a series of austerity measures which have an 

impact not only on the economy, but also on the lives of our tenants. The reduction of local residential units is 

in response to the reduced demand for housing in this area.  

 

       

 
22.11 %  612 

 

 
 occupancy  number of apartments  

       

 5,935 ths. CZK  199,260 ths. CZK  
 annual rental income  investment property  

       

 44 ths. sqm  2.98 %  
 rentable space  gross return  

       

 

 

Prague cluster 

Prague cluster consists of apartments in Prague, district Letňany, which represents the oldest residential portfolio 

owned by CPI BYTY.  

 

       

 
98.64 %  591 

 

 
 occupancy  number of apartments  

       

 60,436 ths. CZK  1,339,489 ths. CZK  
 annual rental income  investment property  

       

 36 ths. sqm  4.51 %  
 rentable space  gross return  
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Ústí nad Labem cluster 

Ústí nad Labem cluster includes apartments in Ústí nad Labem, Teplice, Chlumec, Děčín and Slaný. The Ústí region 

is once again a stable portfolio, where CPI BYTY is investing hundreds of millions of Czech crowns on the 

regeneration of the residential housing and the development of services for tenants. 

 

       

 
83.74 %  2,814 

 

 
 occupancy  number of apartments  

       

 114,368 ths. CZK  1,556,090 ths. CZK  
 annual rental income  investment property  

       

 158 ths. sqm  7.35 %  
 rentable space  gross return  

       

 

 

 

Třinec cluster 

Třinec cluster consists of apartments in Třinec and Český Těšín. The number of flats located in this area makes it 

the largest regional portfolio owned by CPI BYTY. For this reason, the largest investment for revitalization of 

houses and flats was made here, as well as massive support for client services. Given the high number of flats 

owned by CPI BYTY in this area, they do not face substantial competition.  

 

       

 
80.20 %  4,389 

 

 
 occupancy  number of apartments  

       

 163,992 ths. CZK  2,425,090 ths. CZK  
 annual rental income  investment property  

       

 270 ths. sqm  6.76 %  
 rentable space  gross return  

       

 



CPI BYTY, a.s. 
Annual Report 2013 

 
 

 
17 

Investments  

Since 2010 CPI BYTY has been concentrating on a revitalization of its residential housing portfolio. This is expected 

to not only increase the value of the property itself, but also appreciate long-term leasing contracts and 

permanently increase flat occupancy. Total investments of CPI BYTY in repairs and renovation of residential 

buildings in the last year climbed to CZK 326 million.  

Determining the requirements of the residential housing is always difficult. In the case of CPI BYTY with 12,557 

flats the age, quality, technical characteristics, and therefore the requirements are completely different. CPI BYTY 

divided its investments and repairs into a few basic programs. The most important are described below.  

 

New windows program 

One of the priorities selected by CPI BYTY was replacement of old wooden windows with new plastic ones. The 

benefits are quickly reflected by increased comfort for tenants, as well as measurable savings for heating. The 

number of flats and their regional distribution made this a time-consuming and difficult organizational task.  The 

scheduled replacement of windows was fully finished in 2013. From the perspective of CPI BYTY, this was the 

most important investment program in terms of volume that has been realized and completed.  

- TOTAL INVESTMENT IN 2013: CZK 5 million   

 

Revitalization of entry and common areas 

Another important activity regarding investments is the repair and refurbishing of the building’s entrance and 

the common area in the vestibules. This program started at the end of 2011 and includes primarily the 

replacement of the building’s front door, repair of the flooring inside and outside the building, exchange of the 

doorbell panel, telephones, mailboxes, painting and other retrofitting of the common area. 

- TOTAL INVESTMENT IN 2013: CZK 25 million   

 

Changing elevators 

In 2012, CPI BYTY embarked on the large scale exchange of elevators and repair of elevator shafts to mainly 

increase safety, while also observing legislation and meeting technical specifications. In 2013 this project was 

realized above all in Česká Lípa. 

- TOTAL INVESTMENT IN 2013: CZK 40 million   

 

Roof and balcony repairs 

Long standing problems of old buildings are their roofs and balconies. They are the most exposed to weather 

conditions and suffer from structural defects brought about by construction carried out many years ago or during 

past renovations. The repair of selected roofs became another important program.  

- TOTAL INVESTMENT IN 2013: CZK 65 million   

 

Central water supply, renovation of plumbing and new sewerage  

There were special requirements for many flats in the Třinec and Český Těšín region, based on the age and 

appearance of the block of flats. In addition to the above repairs to the location, specific investments were also 

required. In 2013 a new water supply system in Starý Borek was constructed. 

- TOTAL INVESTMENT IN 2013: CZK 10 million   

 

Renovation of vacant flats 

This project is also one of the most important for CPI BYTY due to the strong and direct connection to the income 

generating activity. In 2013 this project included 1,700 flats with different range of renovation works.  

- TOTAL INVESTMENT IN 2013: CZK 55 million   
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Customer Service 

CPI BYTY has created a network of Client Centres for selected regions that provide comprehensive security, 

information and technical service for its tenants. 

In 2012, an entirely new service for tenants was introduced. This new service regards a Tenant Relations Officer 

that works at various Client Centres. The implementation of these specialized officers was not only required due 

to the increasing questions from tenants and their difficulty in negotiating with the authorities, but also to deal 

with the newly introduced amendment to the Civil Code and the changing lease conditions. 

The officers are specialized mainly in the social arena. This regards the terms of contributions to housing or 

housing-related, or catering to the requirements of specific groups of tenants, such as single mothers, the 

handicapped or the elderly. Demand for these services is enormous, and the work the officers carry out benefit 

both the tenants themselves and CPI BYTY. The officers are required to focus on much more than just consulting. 

Their job also demands active assistance in dealing with the authorities, which is especially appreciated by the 

elderly tenants. Success is then reflected in the stabilization of monthly payments, greater security for tenants 

and in many cases, financial assistance and reduction of debt owed by tenants. 

Sharing information with tenants is a prerequisite for a long-term and trusting relationship. The Company’s 

website has become the basic means of communication in recent years. Tenants can regularly find not only 

current information relating directly to their region or city, but also a wide range of advice and recommendations 

related to rental housing, official documents, downloadable contract templates, and of course, all the necessary 

contacts. The CPI BYTY website also provides access to the intranet, and the internal registration and reporting 

system, which is based on individual passwords. All is offered to tenants. Here you can find all the information 

about the flat, liabilities and settlements. Tenants are also able to communicate with the technical department 

management regarding any needs they may have.  

Since 2012, this information is also disseminated by electronic notification. This information regards changes to 

the opening hours of the Client Centre, dates of scheduled repairs, power outages, emergencies, etc. This service 

is in addition to the sending of SMS messages. 

With regard to the different age groups of CPI BYTY tenants, the website is not the only source of information. 

Notice boards at the entrances, regular informational mail and information at the various CPI BYTY branches is 

also commonplace.  

 

Rental Support 

To support flat rentals, CPI BYTY created a network of offices for each region named “Flat Rental Center” which 

provides a complete agency for offering available flats, their leasing and meetings with interested parties. 

As part of their website, CPI BYTY launched an advertising section of available flats with selectable search filters. 

The amount of visitors, and especially the size of the advertising section, is growing each year. This growth is also 

reflected in amount of requests and successfully concluded lease agreements which can be credited to this new 

section.  

To help promote their own business, CPI BYTY also uses this section to advertise their own properties and 

premises. In addition to using the Company's advertising and promotion resources, they also use external 

advertising channels to a limited extent. 

With regard to the unification of the Company, and strengthening the image of their administrative, technical 

and management services, CPI BYTY introduced a fundamental change in the visual presentation in 2013. 
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PROPERTY VALUATION 

The financial statements of CPI BYTY as of 31 December 2013 were prepared in accordance with International 

Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), which include the application of the fair value method. Since the Investment 

properties owned by CPI BYTY must be stated at fair value (present value), the regular valuation of these 

properties by independent experts is recommended. 

The property portfolio valuation is based on a report issued by DTZ, a UGL company (DTZ). DTZ, a UGL company, 

is a global leader in property services. The organization has 47,000 people, operating in more than 208 offices in 

52 countries. In the Czech Republic provides occupiers and investors on a local, regional and international scale 

with industry leading, end to end property solutions. DTZ in the Czech Republic has over 80 employees operating 

across 2 offices. 

 

Chart 1 Investment property value 2007-2013 (in TCZK) 

 
 

 

As of 31 December 2013 the value of Investment Property reached TCZK 7,571,869 (in 2012: TCZK 7,407,109). 
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Chart 2 Share on Investment property value for 2013 

 
 

 

EARNINGS AND BALANCE SHEET ANALYSIS 

For 2013, CPI BYTY reached net profit in the amount of TCZK 81,832 (2012: TCZK 390,388).  

 

Chart 3 Net profit in 2011 – 2013 (in TCZK) 

 
  

The profit reported for 2013 was positively influenced by the investment property valuation gain in the total 

amount of TCZK 334,044 (2012: TCZK 737,166) and by the increase of net rental and service related income.  

Gross rental income for 2013 reached the value of TCZK 480,304 (2012: TCZK 464,961) and in comparison to the 

previous year 2012 this income increased by TCZK 15,343 (by 3.3%). 
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Chart 4 Rental income for 2013 (in TCZK) 

 
 

Total asset decreased by TCZK 416,333 in 2013. The largest share of the total asset is represented by investment 

property amounting TCZK 7,571,869 (2012: TCZK 7,407,109).  

 

Chart 5 Structure of total asset in 2011 – 2013 (in TCZK) 

 
 

The largest share of total liabilities represents bonds issued in the total amount of TCZK 3,029,123 (2012: TCZK 0). 

The bank loan granted by Raiffeisenbank a.s. (2012: TCZK 2,947,571) was fully repaid from the proceeds of issued 

bonds in 2013. 
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Chart 6 Structure of total liabilities (in TCZK) 

 
 

 

FINANCING 

 

Chart 7 Interest-bearing liabilities as of 31 December 2013 (in TCZK) 

 
* Bonds issued = nominal value + accrued interest - transaction cost (as presented in statement of financial position) 

 

The highest share on Interest-bearing liabilities represents issued bonds with nominal value of TCZK 3,000,000 

and accrued interest TCZK 95,334. 

CPI BYTY bonds were issued as a part of a bond programme, with an overall volume of TCZK 3,800,000. The 

overall volume of any bonds issued under the bond programme must not at any time exceed TCZK 3,000,000. 
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CPI BYTY bonds were accepted for trading at Prague Stock Exchange. The detailed breakdown of individual issues 

is as follows: 

 

ISIN CZ0003510679 CZ0003510687 

Issue Date 7 May 2013 7 May 2013 

Issue Maturity Date 7 May 2015 7 May 2017 

Nominal Value of 1 Bond CZK 1,000.00 CZK 1,000.00 

Number of Issued Pieces 300,000 500,000 

Total Nominal Value CZK 300,000,000.00 CZK 500,000,000.00 

Interest Rate 2.50% pa 3.50% pa 

Security Kind owner/bearer owner/bearer 

Security Form dematerialised dematerialised 

Interests Payment annually annually 

Prospectus Approval decision of the Czech National Bank Ref. No. 
2013/5158/570 of 30 April 2013 which came 
into force on 30 April 2013 

decision of the Czech National Bank Ref. No. 
2013/5158/570 of 30 April 2013 which came 
into force on 30 April 2013 

Market Prague Stock Exchange, corporate sector Prague Stock Exchange, corporate sector 

 

ISIN CZ0003510695 CZ0003510703  

Issue Date 7 May 2013 7 May 2013 

Issue Maturity Date 7 May 2019 7 May 2021 

Nominal Value of 1 Bond CZK 1,000.00 CZK 1,000.00 

Number of Issued Pieces 900,000 1,300,000 

Total Nominal Value CZK 900,000,000.00 CZK 1,300,000,000.00 

Interest Rate 4.80% pa 5.80% pa 

Security Kind owner/bearer owner/bearer 

Security Form dematerialised dematerialised 

Interests Payment annually annually 

Prospectus Approval decision of the Czech National Bank Ref. No. 
2013/5158/570 of 30 April 2013 which came 
into force on 30 April 2013 

decision of the Czech National Bank Ref. No. 
2013/5158/570 of 30 April 2013 which came 
into force on 30 April 2013 

Market Prague Stock Exchange, corporate sector Prague Stock Exchange, corporate sector 

 

 

INFORMATION ON EQUITY 

Data on Shares 

Ordinary bearer shares are issued in certificated form with a nominal value of TCZK 100 per share and are not 

listed securities. The total nominal value of the issued shares is TCZK 2 000.  

Dividends are taxed in accordance with Act No. 586/1992 Coll., on Income tax, as amended. The tax is withheld 

on the dividend pay-out date. The shares of CPI BYTY are pledged in favour of Raiffeisenbank a.s. as a security of 

the issued bonds. The change of owner of shares in certificated form is performed by handover in accordance 

with the Securities Act. The shareholder does not have any option or pre-emptive rights. When the shareholder 

votes at the General Meeting, one share represents one vote. The dividend pay-out is ensured by the Board of 

Directors in accordance with the decision of the General Meeting, which defines the place and date of the 

dividend pay-out. The latest date for the dividend pay-out is the date defined as decisive for the dividend pay-

out. If the General Meeting does not decide otherwise, the dividend is due within one year of the date on which 

the resolution on profit distribution was made at the General Meeting. After the liquidation of CPI BYTY, the 

shareholder is entitled to a share in the liquidation balance. The shares of CPI BYTY are not traded on any public 

or regulated domestic or foreign market. 
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Data on Share Capital 

The registered capital of CPI BYTY has been fully paid up, and is not subject to any options or other exchange 

rights. CPI BYTY is not a direct nor indirect holder of own shares. The conditions for changing the registered 

capital amount and the rights arising from shares listed in the Articles of Association of CPI BYTY are in accordance 

with the law. 

The shareholder structure of CPI BYTY as of 31 December 2013 was as follows: 

Shareholder 
Share in 

registered capital 

Czech Property Investments, a.s. 100.00% 

Total 100.00% 

 

CPI BYTY is not aware of any information about contracts between shareholders that could result in aggravating 

the transferability of shares or voting rights. 

 

Data on Equity 

As of 31 December 2013, equity presented in individual financial statements of CPI BYTY amounted to 

TCZK 3,336,093 and comprised: registered capital (TCZK 2 000), capital funds (TCZK 2,119,182), reserve funds 

(TCZK 400), retained profits/accumulated losses (TCZK 1,214,511). Compared with 2012, there was a decrease in 

the equity of CPI BYTY by TCZK 58,168. The decrease of Equity was mainly influenced by dividend contribution in 

the total amount of TCZK 140,000 in 2013.  

 

Chart 8 Structure of Equity in 2011 – 2013 (in TCZK) 
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OUTLOOK 

 After several years of intensive investment activity CPI BYTY plans to make investments in its residential portfolio 

in the amount of CZK 140 million in 2014. The dominant project for 2014 will become a reconstruction of selected 

flats with a budget of about CZK 50 million. This project is monitored separately mainly because of the strong 

and clear links to the revenues generating activity of the Company in terms of rented flats. The extent of the 

works depends on the conditions of each individual apartment.  

Another area on which CPI BYTY will focus in 2014 is improving safety in selected locations consisting of hiring 

security companies or installing security cameras. The aim of this security is to reduce vandalism on the common 

areas. 

The Company will also continue to analyse its portfolio in the following year in order to identify specific properties 

and evaluate their future best use from the economic point of view. 

During 2014 CPI BYTY will again concentrate on reducing the cost of living of the tenants by announcing tenders 

for the supply of electricity or furnishings appliances as well. 

 

 

OTHER 

Social Responsibility 

CPI BYTY is confident that its activities bring success and prosperity to the environment, in which it operates, as 

well. It supports the development of cities and towns, whether through revitalization of housing portfolio, 

improvement of services or through increasing the number of jobs generated by large reconstruction of the real 

estates. Together with representatives of cities and city parts, the CPI Group is working to enhance security and 

crime prevention in selected areas. 

Thanks to the diversity of its activities, CPI BYTY meets the needs of many socially disadvantages. The Company 

has been long providing financial and non-financial assistance to several non-profit entities throughout the Czech 

Republic. It directs its support mainly to the social area. 

CPI BYTY initiated cooperation with the government agency for social integration and with non-profit 

organizations for the permeable housing in Litvínov. Support was given for the establishment and operation of a 

community center in Třinec. This centre focuses on supporting the activities of children who come from socially 

disadvantaged families. 

A care program was developed by tenants for low income groups, which is mainly made up of seniors, single 

mothers and the disabled.   

Consulting and assistance activities of the subsidiary CPI BYTY proved to be very important as it focused mainly 

on seniors and handicapped people living in rented apartments in the context of the impact of rent deregulation 

and the economic recession. Through specialized employees, it provides information, advice and if necessary 

also physical assistance to tenants when dealing with the authorities in the matters of state social aid. In the 

event of financial difficulties of tenants, it tries to give advice on the right setting of household expenditures. 

 

Research and Development 

Considering the core business of the Company, CPI BYTY does not engage in the research and development of 

new products or processes. 
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Environment and Human Resources 

The activities of CPI BYTY do not endanger the environment. As part of HR management, the Company strives to 

improve the organization of work and increase the qualifications of its employees through various training 

programs (e.g. intensive language training and courses). 

As of 31 December 2013 CPI BYTY had 76 employees. With respect to employment relationships, CPI BYTY 

adheres to applicable legislation. 

 

Branches abroad 

CPI BYTY has no branch abroad. 

 

Fees Charged by Auditors 

In 2013, the following audit fees were charged (excluding VAT): 

  
Audit of financial 
statements and 

annual report in TCZK 

CPI BYTY, a.s. 950 

Total 950 

 

 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

In January 2014 General Meeting of CPI BYTY decided on fully submission to new Business Corporation Act No. 

90/2012 Coll. (further also “the Business Corporation Act”) and approved new Articles of Association.  

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the statutory bodies of CPI BYTY are the General Meeting, the 

Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board, while the General Meeting as the supreme body elects and 

dismisses members of the Board of Directors and the Supervisory Board. The executive body is the Management 

of CPI BYTY. The Company has not established any other executive, control bodies or committees. In accordance 

with section 44(3) of Act No. 93/2009 Coll., the function of the audit committee is performed by the Supervisory 

Board of CPI BYTY. 

 

General Meeting of CPI BYTY 

The General Meeting is the supreme body of CPI BYTY. The scope of powers of the General Meeting includes:  

 decision on changes to the Articles of Association, provided the change is not a result of an increase in 

share capital by the Board of Directors, or of another legal matter;  

 decision on an increase in share capital or on authorization of the Board of Directors; 

 decision on the possibility of offsetting a monetary receivable towards the Company against a receivable 

of the Company arising from share capital repayment;  

 decision on the issue of convertible or priority bonds;  

 election and removal of members of the Board of Directors; 

 election and removal of alternate members of the Board of Directors and if more alternates are elected 

the General Meeting has to determine the order in which the alternates will take over the free position 

of the member of the Board of Directors;  

 election and removal of members of the Supervisory Board; 
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 election and removal of alternate members of the Supervisory Board and if more alternates are elected 

the General Meeting has to determine the order in which the alternates will take over the free position 

of the member of the Supervisory Board;  

 approval of the ordinary or extraordinary financial statements and consolidated financial statements 

and interim financial statements if required by law regulation;  

 decision on the allocation of profits or another funds or payment of losses;  

 decision to quote participating securities of CPI BYTY for trading on European regulated market and to 

repeal such quotes; 

 decision to liquidate the Company's by insolvency;  

 appointment and removal of a liquidator;  

 approval of the proposed distribution of the liquidation value; 

 approval of disposal, lease or pledge of the business or such part of it that would cause a substantial 

change in the existing structure of the business or substantial change in the core business or activities 

of CPI BYTY; 

 decision on taking the effects of actions made on behalf of the Company prior its incorporation; 

 approval of the contract on a silent partnership including of the approval of its changes and cancellation;  

 other decisions that Act No. 90/2012 Coll. or the Articles of Association confer powers on the General 

Meeting. 

 

The General Meeting is quorate if present shareholders have shares with a nominal value of at least 30% of the 

Company’s share capital. The General Meeting decides by majority vote of shareholders present, unless the 

Business Corporation Act, another law regulation or Articles of Association of CPI BYTY require a different type 

of majority. 

Further modifications to the action and decision-making of the General Meeting, as well as the participation of 

shareholders in the General Meeting and the rights of shareholder at the General Meeting, the manner of 

convening the General Meeting, and the replacement General Meeting are governed by the Articles of 

Association of CPI BYTY. 

 

Supervisory Board of CPI BYTY 

The Supervisory Board is a supervisory body of CPI BYTY and is governed by the principles approved by the 

General Meeting on condition that these principles are not in conflict with the Business Corporation Act of 

Articles of Association.  

The Supervisory Board oversees the performance of the Board of Directors and the Company's business. 

The Supervisory Board is entitled, in particular, to: 

 review the ordinary, extraordinary, consolidated and interim financial statements and the proposed 

distribution of profits or payment of losses and to submit its observations to the General Meeting, 

 check all documents and records relating to the activities of CPI BYTY and to check whether the 

accounting records are properly kept in accordance with the facts and whether the business activities 

of CPI BYTY are conducted in accordance with the laws and Articles of Association. 

 

The Supervisory Board consists of one member. 

The structure, constitution and term of the Supervisory Board, convening meetings of the Supervisory Board, the 

session of the Supervisory Board and the duties of Supervisory Board members are governed by the Articles of 

Association of CPI BYTY. 
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Members of the Supervisory Board of CPI BYTY as of 31 December 2013:  

Pavel Semrád, chairman since 15 March 2010 

Josef Štolba, member since 8 June 2011 

Radovan Vítek, member since 8 June 2011 

 

In January 2014 Pavel Semrád and Josef Štolba were removed from the Supervisory Board.  

 

Board of Directors of CPI BYTY 

The Board of Directors is a statutory body that manages the business activities of CPI BYTY. Board of Directors is 

governed by the principles approved by the General Meeting on condition that these principles are not in conflict 

with the Business Corporation Act of Articles of Association. Board of Directors decides on all matters of CPI BYTY 

that are not defined by law, the Articles of Association of CPI BYTY or public authority's decision reserved for 

another bodies of the Company. 

In particular, the Board of Directors: 

 ensures proper accounting; 

 submits to the General Meeting the ordinary, extraordinary, consolidated and interim financial 

statements and the proposed distribution of profits or payment of losses. 

 

The Board of Directors consists of two members. 

The Board is quorate when its meeting is attended by all members of the Board. For decisions on all matters 

discussed at the meeting of the Board, the consent of all members of the Board is required.  

The structure, constitution and term of the Board of Directors, convening meetings of the Board of Directors, the 

session of the Board of Directors and the duties of Board of Directors members are governed by the Articles of 

Association of CPI BYTY. 

 

Members of Board of Directors of CPI BYTY as of 31 December 2013: 

Marek Stubley, chairman since 15 March 2010 

Zdeněk Havelka, member since 15 March 2010 

Milan Trněný, member since 15 March 2010 

 

In January 2014 Milan Trněný was removed from the Board of Directors. 

In February 2014 Marek Stubley was removed from the Board of Directors and Kristína Magdolenová was 

appointed as a chairman of the Board of Directors. 
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Management of CPI BYTY 

The Management of CPI BYTY is responsible for managing the organizational units of CPI BYTY. The organizational 

structure is based on specialization by business function. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The members of Management (executives) are: 

Daniel Bacík, Director of CPI BYTY  

Director of CPI BYTY directly manages CPI BYTY and carries out the decisions of the Board of Directors. Direct 

subordinates are Financial director and Technical director. 

Šárka Raková, Financial director of CPI BYTY 

Financial director is responsible for financial management of CPI BYTY. 

Luděk Zelinka, Technical director of CPI BYTY 

Technical director is responsible for facility management of all properties held by CPI BYTY. 

 

The workplace of Management of CPI BYTY is located at Špitálské náměstí 3517-A617/1, 400 01 Ústí nad Labem. 

 

Principles of Remuneration for Members of the Supervisory Board, Board of 

Directors and Management of CPI BYTY 

There are no special principles of remuneration for members of the Supervisory Board, Board of Directors and 

Management of CPI BYTY. The remuneration of the Supervisory Board and the Board of Directors is decided by 

the General Meeting of the Company. The salaries of members of Management are decided by the Board of 

Directors of CPI BYTY. 

Body 
Salary expenses for 2013 

in TCZK 

Board of Directors 0  

Supervisory Board 0  

Management 3,847  

 

The members of the Management received neither monetary nor non-monetary income from the Company in 

2013 except for salaries they were paid as employees of the Company. The salaries have no variable component. 

As employees of CPI BYTY, members of the Management had no advantages or benefits in comparison with other 

employees of CPI BYTY in 2013.  
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Members of the Supervisory Board, Board of Directors and Management and their affiliated persons do not 

possess any shares issued by CPI BYTY, and they do not act as contracting parties to any options or similar 

contracts whose underlying asset would be equity securities issued by CPI BYTY, nor are there any contracts 

concluded for their benefit.  

 

Declaration  

There are no conflicts of interests linked to any member of the Supervisory Board, Board of Directors or 

Management. 

 

Internal Control System and Risk Report 

The internal accounting guidelines of CPI BYTY, which define procedures, responsible persons and dates for 

individual tasks, form an integral part of the internal control system. The internal policies applied by CPI BYTY 

include mainly signing and accountability rules, the circulation of accounting records, a chart of accounts, an 

internal guideline on tangible and intangible fixed assets, inventory policies, rules for recognizing expenses and 

revenues, stocktaking guidelines, rules for recognizing adjustments and the establishment and release of 

provisions, rules for the preparation of financial statements, and other internal guidelines.  

Continuous controls are carried out within the entity, focusing on links between accounts relating to fixed assets, 

inventories, short-term investments and settlements. The control process is regularly reviewed and if deficiencies 

are identified, steps are taken to quickly correct them and prevent them in the future. Quarterly financial 

statements are presented to the Management of CPI BYTY. 

The internal control system of CPI BYTY consists of both internal regulations containing control mechanisms and 

active work of the Supervisory Board, as well as an external audit, which is conducted twice a year (an interim 

review and an audit for the current reporting period). Results of external audits are presented to the Board of 

Directors and the Supervisory Board of CPI BYTY, which charges the Management of CPI BYTY with drawing 

conclusions and taking follow-up steps. 

Members of Management are fully responsible for reviewing the internal processes of each respective 

department. As part of the internal control framework, members of Management are responsible for: 

 reliability and sharing of information, 

 compliance with laws and internal regulations, 

 safeguarding of assets and proper use of resources, and 

 achieving of set goals. 

 

As of 31 December 2013, CPI BYTY was exposed to the following risks arising from financial assets and financial 

liabilities: 

 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer 

contract, leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk mainly from its rental activities 

(primarily for trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including deposits with banks and financial 

institutions, foreign exchange transactions and other financial instruments. 

 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk refers to the possibility of CPI BYTY being unable to meet its cash obligations mainly in relation to 

the settlement of amounts due to suppliers and bank loans and facilities. The Company monitors its risk of 

shortage of funds using different liquidity planning tools. These tools comprise e.g. the following activities: 

 maintaining a sufficient balance of liquid funds; 

 flexible utilization of bank loan, overdrafts and facilities; 

 projection of future cash flows from operating activities. 
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Market risk 

Market risk includes the possibility of negative changes in value of assets of CPI BYTY due to unexpected changes 

in the underlying market parameters, such as exchange rates or interest rates. CPI BYTY is exposed to various 

risks associated with the impact of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its net position 

and cash flows. Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 

fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  

 

As of 31 December 2013, CPI BYTY was exposed to the following risks arising from its business activities: 

 

The risk of losing key people 

The risk of losing key people is the risk that CPI BYTY will not be able to retain and motivate people who are 

crucial for the ability of CPI BYTY to create and implement key strategies of CPI BYTY. The key persons of CPI BYTY 

are members of CPI BYTY’s Management. 

 

The dependence of CPI BYTY on rental property 

Due to the fact that CPI BYTY engages in the lease of real estate, its financial results depend on the existence of 

tenants willing and able to lease and operate the real estate owned by CPI BYTY. If there was a significant loss of 

tenants, this fact could adversely affect the economic and financial situation of CPI BYTY. 

 

The risk of early termination of the lease by the current or future tenants 

The risk of early termination of the lease by the current or future tenants is the risk that, in the event of early 

termination of the lease, CPI BYTY (as the lessor) will not be immediately able to find another tenant willing to 

enter into a lease agreement under comparable conditions. 

 

The risk associated with market rent development  

The core business of CPI BYTY is rental housing. Gradual rent liberalization under the act on unilateral rent 

increases has had a positive impact on the financial performance of CPI BYTY. Deregulation of rent in the Czech 

Republic finished as of 31 December 2012, and thereafter rent for all apartments should be determined solely 

based on market conditions. Market rent, as opposed to regulated rent, reflects the relationship of supply and 

effective demand on the local housing market. CPI BYTY is exposed to the risk that the market rent may 

experience a downward trend in the future where the supply of rental apartments substantially exceeds the 

demand for rental housing (for example, as a result of economic recovery, the income of individuals increases 

and mortgage loans again become more readily available, which will in turn boost interest in becoming a 

homeowner). Any reduction in market rents could have a negative impact on CPI BYTY. 

 

The dependence of CPI BYTY on the degree of indebtedness of its target tenant group 

To a certain extent, CPI BYTY is dependent on the solvency of its target tenant group, yet it is unable to influence 

tenants’ payment behaviour. The total increase in the indebtedness of households may lead to failure to pay the 

agreed rent, which could negatively affect the cash flow of CPI BYTY while increasing the cost of litigation and 

debt recovery. 

 

Changes in lifestyle and living standards may adversely affect interest in rental housing 

Future changes in tenants’ preferences, housing trends and higher living standards of the population in a certain 

area may lead to a significant reduction in interest in rental housing. The increased preference to own rather 

than rent an apartment may ultimately mean a significant loss of tenants. 
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The risk associated with low liquidity of real estate 

The risk of investing in real estate is linked to their low liquidity. Unlike financial assets, the sale of real estate is 

a complex and long-term transaction which may adversely affect the profitability of investments in real estate. 

 

Risk of damage of the properties and the sudden need of repairs 

In the event that the properties owned by the Issuer are substantially damaged due to natural or any other 

unforeseen event or a sudden need for repairs occurs, it is possible that it can significantly decrease their market 

value. The same effect can occur if the Company does not properly maintain the properties, whether from a lack 

of liquidity or other reasons. 

 

Risks associated with the Company's property insurance 

CPI BYTY has entered into property insurance. CPI BYTY's property insurance is arranged to cover 100% of the 

insured properties. However, the issuer cannot guarantee that the insurance payments will not have a negative 

impact on its assets and the economic and financial situation, due to loss of cash flow generating assets. 

 

The risk of insolvency proceedings 

The commencement of insolvency proceedings against a debtor generally entails certain legal effects (in 

particular, restrictions on the debtor’s ability to dispose of their property), which occur regardless of whether or 

not the insolvency petition is substantiated. Generally, we cannot rule out that, in the event of an 

unsubstantiated petition for the commencement of insolvency proceedings against the Company, CPI BYTY 

would be limited, for an indefinite time, in the disposal of its property, which could adversely affect the financial 

situation of CPI BYTY. 

 

Corporate Governance Code 

CPI BYTY has not adopted any binding code of corporate governance. CPI BYTY observes all provisions of the 

Commercial Code concerning the rights of shareholders – particularly their right to influence CPI BYTY in certain 

basic matters such as the election of members of the Board of Directors and changes to the Articles of 

Association. CPI BYTY duly convenes general meetings and ensures equal treatment of all shareholders. When 

carrying out its statutory duties, CPI BYTY regularly informs about the financial situation, performance, ownership 

and management. Beyond its legal obligations, CPI BYTY provides regular information about all relevant issues 

affecting its operations. The reason why CPI BYTY has not created or adopted any code is mainly the fact that the 

shares issued by CPI BYTY are not publicly traded, as well as the existing straightforward shareholding structure 

consisting of a sole shareholder. 

 

Prague, 18 April 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

KRISTÍNA MAGDOLENOVÁ   ZDENĚK HAVELKA 

Chairman of the Board of Directors  Member of the Board of Directors 

CPI BYTY, a.s.     CPI BYTY, a.s. 
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS ON RELATIONS BETWEEN 

RELATED PARTIES FOR 2013 

Report on Relations between Mr. Radovan Vítek, Czech Property Investments, a.s. and CPI BYTY, a.s., and 

between CPI BYTY, a.s. and other entities controlled by the company Czech Property Investments, a.s. 

and Mr. Radovan Vítek for the fiscal period from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013. 

In accordance with §66a (9) of the Act No. 513/1991 Coll., Commercial Code, as amended, a report on relations 

between Mr. Radovan Vítek, Brno, Minská 41, 616 00, the company Czech Property Investments, a.s., Company 

Identification Number 427 16 161, with its registered office at Prague 1, Václavské náměstí 1601/47, Postal Code 

110 00 (hereinafter also referred to as “Controlling Persons“) and CPI BYTY, a.s., Company Identification Number 

262 28 700, with its registered office at Prague 1, Václavské náměstí 1601/47, Postal Code 110 00 (hereinafter 

also referred to as “Controlled Entity“ or “CPI BYTY”) and between CPI BYTY and other entities controlled by Mr. 

Radovan Vítek or by the company Czech Property Investments, a.s. was processed for the fiscal period from 1 

January 2013 to 31 December 2013 (hereinafter referred to as the „Fiscal Period“). 

 

As of 31 December 2013, Mr. Radovan Vítek was the sole shareholder of the company Czech Property 

Investments, a.s. and the company Czech Property Investments, a.s. was the sole shareholder of CPI BYTY. As of 

31 December 2013, Mr. Radovan Vítek and the company Czech Property Investments, a.s. were therefore the 

controlling persons of CPI BYTY. The CPI BYTY Board of Directors, acting with due diligence, is not aware of any 

other entities controlled by Mr. Radovan Vítek and by the company Czech Property Investments, a.s. than those 

stated in this report. 
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Companies controlled by Czech Property Investments, 
a.s. – Czech Republic 

Ownership 
interest %  

Companies controlled by Czech Property Investments, 
a.s. – Czech Republic 

Ownership 
interest % 

ABLON s.r.o.          99,86      Čáslav Property Development, a.s. (Liongate, a.s.)       100,00     

Airport City s.r.o.          99,86      Český Těšín Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

Arkáda Prostějov, s.r.o.       100,00      Družstvo Land          99,96     

Balvinder, a.s.       100,00      EMH North, s.r.o.       100,00     

Baudry Alfa, a.s.       100,00      EMH South, s.r.o.       100,00     

Baudry Beta, a.s.       100,00      EMH West, s.r.o.       100,00     

Baudry, a.s.       100,00      Farhan, a.s.       100,00     

BAYTON Alfa, a.s.       100,00      FL Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

BAYTON Delta, a.s.       100,00      HD Investment s.r.o.          99,86     

BAYTON Gama, a.s.          86,50      Hraničář, a.s.       100,00     

Beroun Property  Alfa, a.s.       100,00      IGY2 CB, a.s.       100,00     

Beroun Property Development, a.s.       100,00      Kerina, a.s.       100,00     

Besnet Centrum, a.s.       100,00      LD Praha, a.s.       100,00     

Best Properties South, a.s.       100,00      Lockhart, a.s.       100,00     

BPT Development, a.s.       100,00      Luxembourg Plaza, a.s.       100,00     

Brandýs Logistic, a.s.       100,00      Malerba, a.s.       100,00     

Březiněves, a.s.       100,00      Marissa Delta, a.s.       100,00     

Camuzzi, a.s.       100,00      Marissa East, a.s.       100,00     

Carpenter Invest, a.s.       100,00      Marissa Epsilon, a.s.       100,00     

CB Property Development, a.s.       100,00      Marissa Gama, a.s.       100,00     

CD Property s.r.o..          99,86      Marissa Ióta, a.s.       100,00     

Conradian, a.s.       100,00      Marissa Kappa, a.s.       100,00     

CPI - Bor, a.s.       100,00      Marissa Lambda, a.s.       100,00     

CPI - Facility, a.s.       100,00      Marissa North, a.s.       100,00     

CPI - Krásné Březno, a.s.          99,96      Marissa Omega, a.s.       100,00     

CPI - Land Development, a.s.       100,00      Marissa Omikrón, a.s.       100,00     

CPI - Orlová, a.s.       100,00      Marissa Sigma, a.s.       100,00     

CPI - Real Estate, a.s.       100,00      Marissa South , a.s.       100,00     

CPI - Štupartská, a.s.       100,00      Marissa Tau, a.s.       100,00     

CPI - Zbraslav, a.s.       100,00      Marissa Théta, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Alfa, a.s.       100,00      Marissa West, a.s.       100,00     

CPI BB Centrum, a.s.       100,00      Marissa Yellow, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Beta, a.s.       100,00      Marissa Ypsilon, a.s.       100,00     

CPI BYTY, a.s.       100,00      Marissa, a.s.       100,00     

CPI City Center ÚL, a.s.       100,00      MB Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Delta, a.s.       100,00      Modřanská Property, a.s.       100,00     

CPI East,s.r.o.       100,00      MQM Czech, s.r.o.           99,86     

CPI Epsilon, a.s.       100,00      MUXUM, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Flats, a.s. (BAYTON Beta, a.s.)       100,00      Nymburk Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Group, a.s.       100,00      OC Nová Zdaboř a.s.       100,00     

CPI Heli, s.r.o.       100,00      OC Spektrum, s.r.o.       100,00     

CPI Hotels Properties, a.s.       100,00      Olomouc City Center, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Jihlava Shopping, a.s.       100,00      Olomouc Office, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Lambda, a.s.       100,00      Pelhřimov Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Management, s.r.o.       100,00      Polygon BC s.r.o.           99,86     

CPI Meteor Centre, s.r.o.          99,86      Prague Property Development, s.r.o.       100,00     

CPI Národní, s.r.o.       100,00      Příbor Property Development, s. r.o.       100,00     

CPI North, s.r.o.       100,00      Příkopy Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Park Mlýnec, a.s.       100,00      Quadrio Residence, s.r.o.       100,00     

CPI Park Žďárek, a.s.          99,96      Statenice Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Property, s.r.o.       100,00      Strakonice Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Reality, a.s.       100,00      Svitavy Property Alfa, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Retail Portfolio I, a.s. (4B Investments, a.s.)       100,00      Svitavy Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Retail Portfolio II, a.s. (VT Holding, a.s.)       100,00      Telč Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Retail Portfolio III, s.r.o.       100,00      Trutnov Property Development, a.s.       100,00     
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CPI Retail Portfolio IV, s.r.o. (CPI Retails SIX. s.r.o.)       100,00      Třinec Investments, s.r.o.       100,00     

CPI Retail Portfolio V, s.r.o. (CPI Retails 4B, s.r.o.)       100,00      Třinec Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Retail Portfolio VI, s.r.o. (CPI Retails EIGHT, s.r.o.)       100,00      Týniště Property Development, s.r.o.       100,00     

CPI Retail Portfolio VII, s.r.o. (CPI Retails SEVEN, s.r.o.)       100,00      U svatého Michala, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Retails ONE, a.s.       100,00      VERETIX a.s.       100,00     

CPI Retails TWO, a.s.        100,00      Vigano, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Services, a.s.       100,00      VM Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Shopping MB, a.s.       100,00      Vyškov Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Shopping Teplice, a.s.       100,00      CPI Palmovka Office, s.r.o.          99,86     

CPI South, s.r.o.       100,00      Žďár Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

CPI West, s.r.o.       100,00      Ždírec Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

CURITIBA a.s.       100,00        

 

Companies controlled by Czech Property Investments, 
a.s. – Slovakia 

Ownership 
interest %  

Companies controlled by Czech Property Investments, 
a.s. – Slovakia 

Ownership 
interest % 

CPI Facility Slovakia, a.s.       100,00      Michalovce Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Retails FIVE, a.s.       100,00      NERONTA, a. s.       100,00     

CPI Retails FOUR, a.s.       100,00      Považská Bystrica Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

CPI Retails THREE, a.s.       100,00      Prievidza Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

Čadca Property Development, s.r.o.       100,00      Ružomberok Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

ELAMOR, a.s.       100,00      Trebišov Property Development, s. r. o.       100,00     

Komárno Property Development, a.s.       100,00      Zvolen Property Development, a.s.       100,00     

Liptovský Mikuláš Property Development, a.s.       100,00        

 

Companies controlled by Czech Property Investments, 
a.s. – Hungary 

Ownership 
interest %  

Companies controlled by Czech Property Investments, 
a.s. – Hungary 

Ownership 
interest % 

ABLON Kft.          99,86      Global Immo Kft.          99,86     

ACGATE Kft.       100,00      GLOBAL INVESTMENT Kft.          99,86     

Airport City Kft.          99,86      GLOBAL MANAGEMENT Kft.          99,86     

B.C.P. Kft.          99,86      GLOBAL PROPERTIES Kft.          99,86     

Bright Site Kft.          99,86      Hotel Rosslyn Kft.           99,86     

Budaörs Business Park Kft.       100,00      HUNGATE 2013 Kft.       100,00     

Century City Kft.          99,86      ICL 1 Budapest Kft.           99,86     

Duna Office Center Kft.          99,86      Insite Kft.          99,86     

First Chance Kft.           99,86      Leriegos Kft.          99,86     

First Site Kft.          99,86      New Field Kft.           99,86     

GLOBAL CENTER Kft.          99,86      New Sites Kft.           99,86     

GLOBAL DEVELOPMENT Kft.          99,86      STRIPMALL Management Kft.           99,86     

GLOBAL ESTATES Kft.          99,86      Szolgáltatóház Kft.           99,86     

 

Companies controlled by Czech Property Investments, 
a.s. – Romania 

Ownership 
interest %  

Companies controlled by Czech Property Investments, 
a.s. – Romania 

Ownership 
interest % 

ABLON Bucharest Real Estates Development S.R.L          99,86      LN Est-Europe Development SRL           99,86     

DH Est-Europe Real Estate SRL          99,86      MH Bucharest Properties S.R.L           99,86     

ES Bucharest Development S.R.L.          99,86      RSL Est-Europe Properties SRL           99,86     

ES Bucharest Properties S.R.L.          99,86      RSL Real Estate Development S.R.L.           99,86     

ES Hospitality S.R.L.          99,86        

 

Companies controlled by Czech Property Investments, 
a.s. – Poland 

Ownership 
interest %  

Companies controlled by Czech Property Investments, 
a.s. – Poland 

Ownership 
interest % 

ABLON sp. z o.o.          99,86      Orco Apartments Sp. z o.o.       100,00     

Gadwall Sp. z o.o.       100,00      SPH Properties Sp. z o.o.       100,00     

GARET INVESTMENTS sp. z o.o.          99,86      Warsaw West Gate Sp. z o.o.       100,00     

K.B.P. BUSINESS PARK sp. z o.o.          50,00      WWG 2013 Sp. z o.o.       100,00     
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Companies controlled by Czech Property Investments, 
a.s. – France 

 
Ownership 
interest %  

CPI FRANCE SASU       100,00     

 

Companies controlled by Czech Property Investments, 
a.s. – Cyprus 

Ownership 
interest %  

Companies controlled by Czech Property Investments, 
a.s. – Cyprus 

Ownership 
interest % 

ALAMONDO LIMITED          99,86      JONVERO LIMITED           99,86     

Avacero Ltd.          99,86      LERIEGOS LIMITED           99,86     

AVIDANO LIMITED          99,86      MESARGOSA LIMITED           99,86     

BREGOVA LIMITED          99,86      OSMANIA LIMITED           99,86     

Codiazella Ltd       100,00      PRINGIPO LIMITED           99,86     

CPI CYPRUS LIMITED       100,00      Sashka LIMITED       100,00     

DERISA LIMITED           99,86      SHAHEDA LIMITED           99,86     

DORESTO LIMITED           99,86      SHEMAR INVESTMENTS LIMITED       100,00     

GOMENDO LIMITED          99,86      TUNELIA LIMITED           99,86     

GORANDA LIMITED          99,86      Volanti Ltd.           99,86     

ISTAFIA LIMITED           99,86      ZLATICO LIMITED        100,00     

 

Companies controlled by Czech Property Investments, 
a.s. – Ireland 

Ownership 
interest % 

CPI FINANCE IRELAND LIMITED       100,00     

 

Companies controlled by Czech Property Investments, 
a.s. – Netherlands 

Ownership 
interest % 

CPI Finance Netherlands B.V.       100,00     

 

Companies controlled by Czech Property Investments, 
a.s. – Guernsey 

Ownership 
interest % 

ABLON Group Limited          99,86     

 

Companies controlled by Czech Property Investments, 
a.s. – British Virgin Islands 

Ownership 
interest % 

Rosendale Management Ltd       100,00     

 

Companies controlled by Radovan Vítek – Czech 
Republic 

 
Ownership 
interest %   

Companies controlled by Radovan Vítek – Czech 
Republic 

 
Ownership 
interest %  

Cerrini, s.r.o.       100,00      Rivaroli, a.s.       100,00     

Materali, a.s.       100,00      Robberg, a.s.       100,00     

Mondello, a.s.       100,00      Vila Šárka, a.s.       100,00     

Papetti, s.r.o.       100,00      Zacari, a.s.       100,00     

Pietroni, s.r.o.       100,00        
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Concluded Contracts 

In the Fiscal period, the following contracts were entered into between CPI BYTY and Controlling Persons and 

between CPI BYTY and entities controlled by Controlling Persons: 

Contracting Party Contract 

Czech Property Investments, a.s. Loan agreement 

U svatého Michala, a.s. Loan agreement 

 

 

Other Legal Acts 

In the Financial Period, no other legal acts were executed between CPI BYTY and Controlling Persons and between 

CPI BYTY and entities controlled by Controlling Persons. 

 

Other measures, their advantages and disadvantages, supplies provided, considerations received, and loss 

suffered 

During the Financial Period, no measures were adopted or implemented in the interest or at the instigation of 

Controlling Persons or entities controlled by Controlling Persons. 

During the Financial Period, no supplies were provided and no considerations were received in the interest or at 

the instigation of Controlling Persons or entities controlled by Controlling Persons. 

 

The value of transactions between related parties is set out in the notes to the financial statements of CPI BYTY 

for 2013.  

 

The Board of Directors of the Controlled Entity confirms that CPI BYTY suffered no damage or loss as a result of 

the conclusion of the above-mentioned agreements, the implementation of the above-mentioned other legal 

acts and other measures, and supplies provided or considerations received. 

 

Prague, 31 March 2014 

 

 

 

 

 

KRISTÍNA MAGDOLENOVÁ   ZDENĚK HAVELKA 

Chairman of the Board of Directors  Member of the Board of Directors 

CPI BYTY, a.s.     CPI BYTY, a.s. 
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CPI BYTY, a.s. 
 

Financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2013  
in thousand Czech crowns (TCZK) 

Statement of financial position 

 

 Note 31 December 2013 31 December 2012 

ASSETS    

Non-current assets    

Investment property 3.1 7 571 869 7 407 109 

Property, plant and equipment 3.2 962 1 299 

Total non-current assets  7 572 831 7 408 408 

    

Current assets    

Trade and other receivables 3.4 479 708 974 529 

Current income tax assets  -- 17 581 

Loans provided 3.3 28 709 15 165 

Cash and cash equivalents 3.5 107 780 189 678 

Total current assets  616 197 1 196 953 

    

TOTAL ASSETS  8 189 028 8 605 361 

    

    

EQUITY    

Share capital 3.6 2 000 2 000 

Other reserves 3.6 2 119 582 2 119 582 

Retained earnings 3.6 1 214 511 1 272 679 

Total equity  3 336 093 3 394 261 

    

    

LIABILITIES    

Non-current liabilities    

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 3.7 145 761 2 872 529 

Bonds issued 3.8 2 933 789 -- 

Trade and other payables 3.9 43 348 80 937 

Deferred tax liabilities 3.11 1 154 016 1 130 355 

Total non-current liabilities  4 276 914 4 083 821 

    

Current liabilities    

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 3.7 29 664 322 591 

Bonds issued 3.8 95 334 -- 

Trade and other payables 3.9 447 457 800 146 

Provisions 3.10 3 566 4 542 

Total current liabilities  576 021 1 127 279 

    

Total liabilities  4 852 935 5 211 100 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  8 189 028 8 605 361 

 

 

Notes to financial statements on pages 6 to 46 are integral part of these financial statements. 
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CPI BYTY, a.s. 
 

Financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2013  
in thousand Czech crowns (TCZK)  

Statement of comprehensive income 

 Note 2013 2012 

    

Gross rental income 4.1 480 304 464 961 

Net service charge expense 4.2 -5 599 -12 455 

Property operating expenses 4.3 -446 864 -511 151 

Net rental and service related income  27 841 -58 645 

    

Net valuation gain on investment property 4.4 334 044 737 166 

Gain / (Loss) on the disposal of investment property 4.5 -54 919 324 

Gain on the disposal of subsidiaries  -- 4 657 

Administrative expenses 4.6 -9 742 -13 196 

Other income 4.7 8 458 5 908 

Other expenses 4.8 -36 750 -30 710 

Results from operating activities  268 932 645 504 

    

Finance income 4.9 156 565 

Finance costs            4.10 -163 595 -137 392 

Net finance costs  -163 439 -136 827 

    

Profit before income tax  105 493 508 677 

    

Income tax expense 4.11 -23 661 -118 289 

Profit from continuing operations  81 832 390 388 

    

    

Profit for the period  81 832 390 388 

    

Total comprehensive income for the period  81 832 390 388 

    

Profit attributable to owners  81 832 390 388 

Total comprehensive income attributable to owners  81 832 390 388 

    

Earnings per share    

Basic earnings per share  3.6 4 092 19 519 

Diluted earnings per share  3.6 4 092 19 519 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes to financial statements on pages 6 to 46 are integral part of these financial statements. 
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CPI BYTY, a.s. 
 

Financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2013  
in thousand Czech crowns (TCZK) 

Statement of cash flows 

  2013 2012 

Cash flows from operating activities    

Profit before income tax  105 493 508 677 

Adjusted by:     

                       Net valuation gain on investment property  -334 044 -737 166 

                       Net finance (income) / expense  163 439 135 120 

                       Impairment of assets  28 292 22 435 

                       (Gain) / Loss on the disposal of investment property  54 919 -324 

                       Gain on the disposal of subsidiaries  -- -4 657 

                       Depreciation / amortisation of tangible and intangible assets  337 267 

                       Other finance costs  -- 1 707 

Profit before income tax, changes in working capital and provisions  18 436 -73 941 

Changes in trade and other receivables  8 615 4 146 

Changes in trade and other payables  -65 138 64 618 

Change in provisions   -976 2 946 

 Income tax paid  17 581 -54 

Net cash from operating activities  -21 482 -2 285 

Cash flows from investing activities    

     Proceeds from sale of investment property  168 271 223 119 

     Acquisition of investment property  -44 954 -14 243 

     Acquisition of investment property  -- -- 

     Acquisition of property, plant  and equipment  -- -- 

     Other loans (provided) / repaid  -24 000 84 482 

     Interest received  -- 565 

Net cash used investing activities  99 317 293 923 

Cash flows from financing activities    

 Proceeds from bonds issued  2 927 914 -- 

 Dividends paid  -140 000 -- 

 Drawing / (repayments) of loans and borrowings  -2 910 830 -127 162 

  Drawings / (repayments) of finance lease liabilities  -284 562 

  Interest paid  -36 533 -126 956 

Net cash from financing activities  -159 733 -253 556 

    

Net increase/ (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  -81 898 38 082 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year  189 678 151 596 

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year  107 780 189 678 

 

 

 

 

 

Notes to financial statements on pages 6 to 46 are integral part of these financial statements. 
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CPI BYTY, a.s. 
 

Financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2013 
in thousand Czech crowns (TCZK) 

Statement of changes in equity 

  

  Share capital Other reserves        Retained earnings Total equity 

Balance at 1 January 2012 
 2 000 2 119 582 2 812 291 4 933 873 

 
Profit for the period  -- -- 390 388 390 388 
      
      
Total comprehensive income for the period  -- -- 390 388 390 388 
      
Transactions with owners of the Company, recognized directly in equity 

     
      
Dividends  -- -- -1 930 000 -1 930 000 
      
Balance at 31 December 2012  2 000 2 119 582 1 272 679 3 394 261 
      

      
      
Balance at 1 January 2013  2 000 2 119 582 1 272 679 3 394 261 
 
Profit for the period  -- -- 81 832 81 832 
      
      
Total comprehensive income for the period  -- -- 81 832 81 832 
      
Transactions with owners of the Company, recognized directly in equity      
      
Dividends  -- -- -140 000 -140 000 
      
Balance at 31 December 2013  2 000 2 119 582 1 214 511 3 336 093 
            

 

Notes to financial statements on pages 6 to 46 are integral part of these financial statements. 
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CPI BYTY, a.s. 
 

Notes to the financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2013  
in thousand Czech crowns (TCZK) 

Notes to the Financial Statements 

 

1 General information 

CPI BYTY, a.s. (hereafter “the Company” or “CPI BYTY”) is a joint-stock company incorporated under the laws of 
the Czech Republic and was established on 14 November 2000. 

The main activity of the Company is rent of residential and commercial premises. 

 

Registered office  

Václavské náměstí 1601/47 

110 00 Praha 1  

Czech Republic 

 

Registration Number 

262 28 700 

 

Shareholder 
The sole shareholder of the Company is Czech Property Investments, a.s. (hereafter “CPI a.s.”) with registered 
office - Václavské náměstí 1601/47, 110 00 Praha 1, Czech Republic. The registration number of the sole 
shareholder is 427 16 161. The Company is part of consolidation group of CPI a.s. (hereafter “CPI Group”) which 
is controlled by Mr. Radovan Vítek. 

 

Management: 
as at 31 December 2013 

Board of Directors Supervisory Board 

Chairman Chairman 
Marek Stubley, since 15 March 2010 Pavel Semrád, since 15 March 2010 
 
Members Members 
Milan Trněný, since 15 March 2010 Josef Štolba, since 8 June 2011   
Zdeněk Havelka, since 15 March 2010 Radovan Vítek, since 8 June 2011 
  

 
as at 31 December 2012 

Board of Directors Supervisory Board 

Chairman Chairman 
Marek Stubley, since 15 March 2010 Pavel Semrád, since 15 March 2010 
 
Members Members 
Milan Trněný, since 15 March 2010 Josef Štolba, since 8 June 2011   
Zdeněk Havelka, since 15 March 2010 Radovan Vítek, since 8 June 2011 
 
Due to changes in the Company´s management from 1 January 2014 till the date of the Board of Directors 
meeting, these financial statements has been authorized by newly appointed members of Board of Directors. For 

the subsequent events refer to note 8. 

 

Employees 
The Company employs 76 employees at 31 December 2013 (at 31 December 2012 – 92 employees).  
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CPI BYTY, a.s. 
 

Notes to the financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2013  
in thousand Czech crowns (TCZK) 

2 Summary of significant accounting policies 

 

2.1. Basis of preparation of financial statements 

 

(a) Statement of compliance 

 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union.  

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 18 April 2014.  

 

(b) New standards 

 

For the preparation of these financial statements, the following new or amended standards and interpretations 
are mandatory for the first time for the financial year beginning 1 January 2013 (the list does not include new or 
amended standards and interpretations that affect first-time adopters of IFRS or not-for-profit and public sector 
entities since they are not relevant to the Company). 

 

 IAS 1 Presentation of Items of Other Comprehensive Income – Amendments to IAS 1 

The amendments to IAS  1  introduce  a  grouping  of  items  presented  in  other  comprehensive  
income.  Items that could be reclassified to profit or loss at a future point in time now have to be 
presented separately from items that will never be reclassified.  The  amendment  affected  
presentation  only  and  had  no  impact  on  the  Company’s financial position or results of 
operations. 

 

 IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurement 

IFRS 13 replaces the fair value measurement guidance contained in individual IFRSs with a single 
source of fair value measurement guidance. It defines fair value, establishes a framework for 
measuring fair value and sets out disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. IFRS 13 
explains how to measure fair value when it is required or permitted by other IFRSs. The application 
of IFRS 13 has not materially impacted the fair value measurements of the Company. IFRS 13 also 
requires more extensive disclosure of fair values.  Additional disclosures where required, are 
provided in the individual notes relating to the assets and liabilities whose fair values were 
determined. Fair value hierarchy is provided in Note 5.6.   

 

 
New standards and interpretations not yet adopted  

A number of new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are effective for annual periods 

beginning on or after 1 January 2014, and have not been applied in preparing these financial statements. Those 

which may be relevant to the Company are set out below.  

The Company does not plan to adopt these standards early and the extent of the impact is expected as low. 

 

 IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2010), IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (2009) 

IFRS 9 (2009) introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial 
assets. Under IFRS 9 (2009), financial assets are classified and measured based on the business 
model in which they are held and the characteristics of their contractual cash flows. IFRS 9 (2010) 
introduces additional changes relating to financial liabilities. The IASB currently has an active 
project to make limited amendments to the classification and measurement requirements of IFRS 9 
and add new requirements to address the impairment of financial assets and hedge accounting. 
IFRS 9 (2010) and (2009) are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2015, with 
early adoption permitted. 
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 IAS 36 Impairment of Assets 
The amendment to IAS 36 Impairment of Assets removed certain disclosures of the recoverable 

amount of CGUs which had been included in IAS 36 by the issue of IFRS 13. 

 

(c) Basis of measurement 

 

The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis except for the following material items in 
the statement of financial position, which are measured as indicated below at each reporting date: 

 

 investment property is measured at fair value; 

 financial instruments measured at fair value or amortised costs. 

 

(d) Functional and presentation currency 

 

These financial statements are presented in Czech Crowns, which is the Company’s functional currency. All 
financial information presented in Czech Crowns has been rounded to the nearest thousand (TCZK), except when 
otherwise indicated.   

 

(e) Use of estimates and judgements 

 

The preparation of the financial statements in conformity with IFRS as adopted by the European Union requires 
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of accounting policies 
and the reported amounts of assets and liabilities, income and expenses. The estimates and assumptions are 
based on historical experience, internal calculations and various other facts that the management believes to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. The actual results might differ from the estimates.  

 

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

 

Information about assumptions, estimation uncertainties and critical judgments in applying accounting policies 
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the 
notes: 

 2.2 (c) – Investment property;  

 5.6 – Financial instruments and fair values.  
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2.2. Significant accounting policies 

 

Except for the changes described in note 2.1. (b) New standards, the accounting policies set out below have been 
applied consistently to all periods presented in these financial statements. 

 

(a) Business combinations 

 

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the 
date on which control is transferred to the Company. Control is the power to govern the financial and operating 
policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. In assessing control, the Group takes into 
consideration potential voting rights that currently are exercisable. 

 

The Company measures goodwill at the acquisition date as: 

 the fair value of the consideration transferred; plus 

 the recognised amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquire; plus 

 if the business combination is achieved in stages, the fair value of the  
pre-existing equity interest in the acquire; less 

 the net recognised amount (generally fair value) of the identifiable assets acquired 
and liabilities assumed. 

 

When the excess is negative, a bargain purchase gain is recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 

The consideration transferred does not include amounts related to the settlement of pre-existing relationships. 
Such amounts generally are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

Transaction cost, other than those associated with the issue of debt or equity securities, that the Company incurs 
in connection with a business combination are expensed as incurred. 

 

Any contingent consideration payable is measured at fair value at the acquisition date. If the contingent 
consideration is classified as equity, then it is not remeasured and settlement is accounted for within the equity. 
Otherwise, subsequent changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration are recognised in profit or loss. 

 

The interest of non-controlling shareholders at the date of the business combination is recorded at the non-
controlling interest’s proportion share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets, which are generally at fair value.  

 

(b) Business combinations involving entities under common control 

 

A business combination involving entities or businesses under common control is a business combination in 
which all of the combining entities or businesses are ultimately controlled by the same party or parties both 
before and after the business combination, and that control is not transitory. 

 

In the absence of more specific guidance, the Company consistently applied acquisition accounting to account 
for all common control transactions. 
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(c) Foreign currency 

 

(i) Functional currency 

 

Functional currency of the Company is Czech Crown, as the entity is incorporated and carries out its operations 
in the Czech Republic. 

 

(ii) Foreign currency transactions 

 

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Company at exchange 
rates at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 
reporting date are retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency 
gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between amortized cost in the functional currency at the 
beginning of the period, adjusted for effective interest and payments during the period, and the amortized cost 
in foreign currency translated at the exchange rate at the end of the period.  

 

Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are measured at fair value are 
retranslated to the functional currency at the exchange rate at the date that the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items in a foreign currency that are measured based on historical cost are translated using the 
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. 

 

Foreign currency differences arising on retranslation are recognised in profit or loss, except for the differences 
arising on the retranslation of qualifying cash flow hedges to the extent the hedge is effective, which are 
recognised in the other comprehensive income. 

 

(d) Investment property 

 

Investment property is property held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both. 
Investment property is measured at cost on initial recognition and subsequently at fair value with any change 
therein recognised in profit or loss.  

 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the investment property. The cost of 
self-constructed investment property includes the cost of material and direct labour, any other costs directly 
attributable to bringing the investment property to a working condition for their intended use and capitalized 
borrowing costs. 

 

An external independent valuation company, having appropriate recognised professional qualifications and 
recent experience in the location and category of property being valued, valued the portfolio of investment 
property at the year end of 2013 and 2012 respectively.  

The results of independent valuations were reviewed by the Company’s valuation committee and included in the 
final management estimates of the fair value.  

 

(i) Residential 

Residential properties have been valued using Discounted cash flow (DCF) method of valuation. The discounted 
cash flow calculation is a valuation of rental income considering non-recoverable costs and applying a discount  

 

 

rate for the current income risk over a ten-year period. After ten years a determining residual value (exit scenario) 
is calculated. 

 



 
 

11 

 

CPI BYTY, a.s. 
 

Notes to the financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2013  
in thousand Czech crowns (TCZK) 

(ii) Land and vacant buildings 

 

Land and vacant buildings have been valued using the direct comparison method to arrive at the value of the 
property in its existing state. Comparison of other similarly located and zoned plots of land/buildings that are 
currently on the market in the similar location was performed. 

Any gain or loss on disposal of an investment property (calculated as the difference between the net proceeds 
from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

(e) Leased assets 

 

Leases in terms of which the Company assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified 
as finance leases. Upon initial recognition, the leased asset is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its 
fair value and the present value of the minimum lease payments. 

 

Subsequent to initial recognition, the asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable 
to that asset.  

 
Other leases are operating leases and, except for investment property, the leased assets are not recognised in 

the Company’s statement of financial position. Property held under operating leases that meets the definition of 

investment property is classified as investment property on a property-by-property basis. Investment property 

held under an operating lease is recognised in the Company’s statement of financial position at its fair value. 

Lease payments are accounted for as described in accounting policy 2.2(n). 

 

 

(f) Property, plant and equipment 

 

(i) Recognition and measurement 

 

Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation (see below) and 
impairment losses (see accounting policy 2.2(j)). 

 

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost of self-constructed 
assets includes the cost of materials, direct labour, any other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to 
a working condition for their intended use, capitalized borrowing costs and an appropriate proportion of 
production overheads. 

 

Where components of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components) of property, plant and equipment. 

 

Any gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment (calculated as the difference between 
the net proceeds from disposal and the carrying amount of the item) is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

 

 

 

(ii) Reclassification to investment property 
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When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is re-measured 
to fair value and reclassified as investment property. Any gain arising on re-measurement is recognised in profit 
or loss to the extent that it reverses the previous impairment loss on the specific property, with any remaining 
gain recognised in other comprehensive income and presented in the revaluation reserve in equity. Any loss is 
recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

 

(iii) Subsequent costs 

 

Subsequent expenditure is capitalized only when it is probable that the future economic benefits associated with 
the expenditure will flow to the Company. Ongoing repairs and maintenance is expensed as incurred. 

 

(iv) Depreciation 

 

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis in profit or loss over the 
estimated useful lives of each component. Leased assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and 
their useful lives unless it is reasonably certain that the Company will obtain ownership by the end of the lease 
term. Land is not depreciated. 

 

Items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated from the date that they are installed and are ready for 
use, or in respect of internally constructed assets, from the date that the asset is completed and ready for use. 

 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 

Assets 2013 2012 

Equipment 10 years 10 years 

Motor vehicles 5 years 5 years 
Fittings 5 years 5 years 
Computers 3 years 3 years 

 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate. 
 

(g) Intangible assets 

 

(i) Goodwill 

 

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method. Goodwill that arises on the 
acquisition of subsidiaries is presented with intangible assets.  

 

Subsequently, goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to cash-
generating units (assets) and is not amortized but is tested annually for impairment (see accounting policy 2.2(j)). 

 

(ii)  Other intangible assets 

 

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Company and have finite useful lives, are measured at cost less 

accumulated amortization (see below) and accumulated impairment losses (see accounting policy 2.2(j)). 

 

(iii)  Subsequent expenditure 
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Subsequent expenditure on intangible assets is capitalized only when it increases the future economic benefits 
embodied in the specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure is recognised in profit or loss as incurred. 

 

(iv) Amortisation 

 

Except for goodwill, intangible assets are amortized on a straight-line basis in profit or loss over their estimated 
useful lives, from the date that they are available for use.  

 

The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods are as follows: 

 

Assets 2013 2012 

Software 3-8 years 3-8 years 
Other intangible assets 3-5 years 3-5 years 

 

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate. 

 

(h) Investments in Subsidiaries 

 

Subsidiary is an enterprise controlled by the Company, whose financial and operating process can be controlled 
by the Company in order to achieve benefits from its operations. 

Investments in subsidiaries are measured at costs less any impairment losses. 

 

(i) Financial instruments 

 

 (i)  Non-derivative financial assets 

 

Non-derivative financial assets comprise investments in equity and debt securities, loans provided, trade and 
other receivables, and cash and cash equivalents. 

 

The Company initially recognizes loans, receivables and deposits on the date that they are originated. All other 
financial assets are recognized initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Company becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

The Company derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, 
or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred. Any interest in such transferred financial assets 
that is created or retained by the Company is recognised as a separate asset or liability. 

 

 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position 
when, and only when, the Company has a legal right to offset the amounts and intends either to settle on a net 
basis or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

 

 

Loans provided 
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Loans are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. Such 
assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction cost. Subsequent to initial 
recognition, provided loans are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any 
impairment losses (see accounting policy 2.2(j)). 

 

Finance charges, including premiums receivable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are 
recognised in profit or loss on an accrual basis using the effective interest method and are added to the carrying 
amount of the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which they arise. 

 

The recoverable amount of the Company’s provided loans is calculated as the present value of estimated future 
cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate calculated at initial 
recognition of these financial assets). 

 

The Company classifies as current any part of long-term loans that is due within one year from the reporting 
date. 

 

Trade and other receivables 

 

Trade and other receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an 
active market. Such assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction cost. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, receivables are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method, less any impairment losses (see accounting policy 2.2(j)). 

 

Cash and cash equivalents 

 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits with maturities of three months or less from 
the acquisition date that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the 
Company in the management of its short-term commitments. Bank accounts and call deposits that are repayable 
on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash management are included as a component of cash 
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the cash-flow statement.  

 

Held-to-maturity financial assets 

 

If the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then such financial assets 
are classified as held-to-maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are recognised initially at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction cost. Subsequent to initial recognition, held-to-maturity financial assets are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses (see accounting 
policy 2.2(j)). 

 

Held-to-maturity financial assets comprise debentures. 

 

 

Available-for-sale financial assets 

 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that are designated as available for sale or 
are not classified in any of the above categories of financial assets. Available-for-sale financial assets are 
recognised initially at fair value plus any directly attributable transaction cost. 

 

Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, other than impairment 
losses (see accounting policy 2.2(j)), are recognized in other comprehensive income and presented in fair value 
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reserve in equity. When an investment is derecognized, the gain or loss accumulated in equity is reclassified to 
profit or loss. 

 

Available-for-sale financial assets which are investments in an equity instrument that does not have a quoted 
market price in an active market and for which other methods of reasonably estimating fair value are clearly 
inappropriate are carried at cost.  

 

Available-for-sale financial assets comprise equity securities and debt securities. 

 

 (ii)  Non-derivative financial liabilities 

 

Non-derivative financial liabilities comprise loans and borrowings, bonds issued, bank overdrafts, and trade and 
other payables.  

The Company initially recognizes debt securities issued and subordinated liabilities on the date that they are 
originated. All other financial liabilities (including financial liabilities designated as at fair value through profit or 
loss) are recognised initially on the trade date, which is the date that the Company becomes a party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or 
expire. 

 

The Company classifies non-derivative financial liabilities into the other financial liabilities category. Such 
financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, these financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. 

 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost of a financial liability and of allocating 
interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash payments through the contractual cash flows of the financial liability. 

 

Interest-bearing loans, borrowings and bonds are recognised initially at fair value less any directly attributable 
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, the interest-bearing loans, borrowings and bonds are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. Bank overdrafts form an integral part of the 
Company’s cash management. 

 

Finance charges, including premiums payable on settlement or redemption and direct issue costs, are recognised 
in profit or loss on an accrual basis using the effective interest method and are added to the carrying amount of 
the instrument to the extent that they are not settled in the period in which it arise. 

 

The Company classifies as a current portion any part of long-term loans and bonds that is due within one year 
from the date of the statement of financial position. 
 

Transaction costs 

Bonds payable are initially recognized at the amount of the proceeds from issued bonds, net of transaction costs.  

Bond transaction costs include fees and commissions paid to agents, advisers, brokers and dealers, levies by 
regulatory agencies and securities exchanges. 

 

Trade and other payables 
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Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value less any directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, these payables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method. 

 
 (iii)  Share capital 

 

Ordinary shares 

 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares and 
shares options, other than upon a business combination, are recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any 
tax effects. 

 

 

(j) Impairment 

 

(i)  Non-derivative financial assets 

 

A financial asset not classified as at fair value through profit or loss is assessed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is objective evidence that it is impaired. A financial asset is impaired if there is objective 
evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset, 
and that loss event(s) had an impact on the estimated future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated 
reliably. 

 

Objective evidence that financial assets are impaired includes default or delinquency by a debtor, restructuring 
of an amount due to the Company on terms that the Company would not consider otherwise, indications that a 
debtor or issuer will enter bankruptcy, adverse changes in payment status of borrowers or issuers, economic 
conditions that correlate with defaults or the disappearance of an active market for a security. In addition, for 
an investment in an equity security, a significant of prolonged decline in its fair value below its cost is objective 
evidence of impairment. 

 

 

Financial assets measured at amortized cost 

 

The Company considers evidence of impairment for financial assets measured at amortized cost (provided loans, 
trade and other receivables, held-to-maturity financial assets) at both a specific asset and collective level. All 
individually significant assets are assessed for specific impairment. Those found not to be specifically impaired 
are then collectively assessed for any impairment that has been incurred but not yet identified.  

 

Assets that are not individually significant are collectively assessed for impairment by grouping together assets 
with similar risk characteristics. 

 

In assessing collective impairment, the Company uses historical trends of the probability of default, the timing of 
recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management’s judgement as to whether current 
economic and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by 
historical trends. 

 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the difference 
between its carrying amount, and the present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at the asset’s 
original effective interest rate. Losses are recognised in profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account 
against provided loans, trade and other receivables or held-to-maturity financial assets. Interest on the impaired 
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asset continues to be recognised. When an event occurring after the impairment was recognised causes the 
amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss. 

 

Available-for-sale financial assets 

 

Any subsequent recovery in the fair value of an impaired available-for-sale equity security is recognised in other 
comprehensive income. 

 

(ii)  Non - financial assets 

 

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-financial assets, other than investment property (see accounting 
policy 2.2(d)) and deferred tax assets (see accounting policy 2.2(p)) are reviewed at each reporting date to 
determine whether there is any indication of impairment. If any such indication exists, then the asset’s 
recoverable amount is estimated. For the purpose of impairment testing, assets are grouped together into cash 
generating units (CGU’s) -the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use that are 
largely independent of the cash inflows of other assets or CGUs.  

The recoverable amount of an asset or cash-generating unit is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 
costs of disposal. Subject to an operating segment ceiling test, CGUs to which goodwill has been allocated are 
aggregated so that the level at which impairment testing is performed reflects the lowest level at which goodwill 
is monitored for internal reporting purposes. Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to groups 
of CGUs that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination. 

 

Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss. Impairment losses recognised in respect of CGUs are allocated 
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to CGU (group of CGUs), and then to reduce the 
carrying amounts of the other assets in the CGU (group of CGUs) on a pro-rata basis. 

 

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed. In respect of other assets, impairment losses 
recognised in prior periods are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or 
no longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine 
the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does 
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no 
impairment loss had been recognised. 

 

 

(k) Provisions 

 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation 
that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle 
the obligation. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows 
at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, 
the risks specific to the liability. The unwinding of the discount is recognised as finance cost. 

 

 

 

 

 

(l) Guaranties provided 

 

In the normal course of business, the Company may enter into credit related commitments which are accounted 
for in accounts outside of the statement of financial position. These commitments primarily include financial 
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guarantees. Provisions are made for estimated losses on these commitments. In estimating the losses, the 
Company refers to the historical data regarding risk parameters (credit conversion factors, probability of default 
and loss-given default). 

 

(m) Revenue 

 

(i)  Rental income 

 

Rental income from investment property is recognised as revenue on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
operating lease. Lease incentives granted are recognised as an integral part of the total rental income, over the 
term of the lease.  

The term of the lease is the non-cancellable period of the lease. Any further term for which the tenant has the 
option to continue the lease is not considered. 

 

 (ii)  Service charges and expenses recoverable from tenants 

 

Service charges and expenses recoverable from tenants are presented net in the statement of comprehensive 
income and disclosed separately in the notes to the financial statements. They are recorded based on issued 
invoices and accruals. 

 

(iii)  Services rendered 

 

Revenue from services rendered is recognised in profit or loss when the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership have been transferred to the buyer. This usually involves other services not directly connected with 
rental activities.  

 

(iv) Utilities 

 

In respect of utilities (energy, water, etc.) consumed by tenants the Company acts as an agent to its tenants. The 
Company performs payments to utilities providers on behalf of tenants, receives advances paid by tenants and 
issues final settlements to tenants based on actual utilities consumption. Amounts received from tenants and 
paid to utilities providers are recognised as payables and receivables respectively until final settlement and do 
not gross up revenues and expenses.  

 

 

(v)  Sale of investment property, investments in subsidiaries and equity-accounted investees 

 

Revenue from the sale of investment property, investments in subsidiaries and equity-accounted investees is 
recognised in profit or loss when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the 
buyer, usually on the date on which the application is submitted to the Land Registry for transfer of legal 
ownership title. The property has to be completed and the apartments are ready for sale, including the necessary 
regulatory permissions. 

 

 

 

(n) Expenses 

 

(i)  Service costs and property operating expenses 
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Service costs for service contracts entered into and property operating expenses are expensed as incurred. 
 

(ii)  Operating lease payments 

 

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of 
the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in profit or loss as an integral part of the total lease expense, 
over the term of the lease. 

 

Where the property interest held under an operating lease is classified as an investment property, the property 
interest is accounted for as if it was a finance lease and the fair value model is used for the asset recognised. 

 

(iii)  Finance lease payments 

 

Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance expense and the 
reduction of outstanding liability. The finance expense is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to 
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.  

 

(o) Finance income and finance costs 

 

Finance income comprises interest income on bank interest, interest on provided loans, interest on bonds 
purchased.  

Interest income is recognised as it accrues in profit or loss, using the effective interest method. Dividend income 
is recognised in profit or loss on the date that the Company’s right to receive payment is established. 

 

Finance costs comprise interest expense on loans and borrowings, interest charges related to finance leases and 
bank charges.  

 

The interest expense component of finance lease payments is recognised in profit or loss using the effective 
interest rate method. Borrowing costs that are not directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of a 
qualifying asset are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. 

 

Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net basis as either finance income or finance costs depending 
on whether foreign currency movements are in a net gain or net loss position. 

 

(p) Income tax 

 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Current and deferred income tax is recognised in profit 
or loss except to the extent that it relates to a business combination, or items recognised directly in equity or in 
other comprehensive income. 

 

Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the year, using tax rates 
enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous 
years. 

 

 

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is not 
recognised for: 
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 temporary differences on the initial recognition of assets or liabilities in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and that affects neither accounting nor taxable 
profit or loss; 

 temporary differences related to investments in subsidiaries and jointly controlled 
entities to the extent that the Company is able to control the timing of the reversal of 
the temporary differences and it is probable that they will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future; and 

 taxable temporary differences arising on the initial recognition of goodwill. 

 

Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they 
reverse, using tax rates enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities 
are offset if there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax liabilities and assets, and they relate to taxes 
levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity, or on different tax entities, but they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised simultaneously. 

 

A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
against which the asset can be utilized. Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced 
to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

 

(q) Earnings per share 

 

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS) data for its ordinary shares. Basic EPS is 
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the 
profit or loss attributable to ordinary shareholders and the weighted average number of ordinary shares 
outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.  

 

(r) Segment reporting 

 

An operating segment is a component of the Company that engages in business activities from which it may earn 
revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that relate to transactions with any of the 
Company’s other components.  

 

Each segment within the Company is periodically evaluated during the regular meetings of established task forces 
and results of such evaluations are reported during the Board of Directors meetings. Segment results that are 
reported to the Board of Directors, which is the chief operating decision maker include items directly attributable 
to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis. Unallocated items  

 

comprise mainly corporate assets (primarily the Company’s headquarters), head office expenses, and income tax 
assets and liabilities.  

Segment capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the period to acquire property, plant and 
equipment, investment property, intangible assets other than goodwill and trading property. 

 

Segment information is presented in respect of the Company’s operating and geographical segments. The 
Company’s primary format for segment reporting is based on operating segments. The operating segments are 
determined based on the Company’s management and internal reporting structure.  

 

Inter-segment pricing is determined on an arm’s length basis. 
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The Company determinates its operations to the one segment – Residential. In respect of geographical segments, 
all activities are carried out in the Czech Republic. 

 
(s) Related parties 

 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the entity that is preparing its financial statements. 

 

A person or a close member of that person's family is related to a reporting entity if that person:  

(I) has control or joint control over the reporting entity; 

(II) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or 

(III) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of the 

reporting entity. 

 

An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:   

(I) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means that each 

parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others). 

(II) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint venture 

of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member). 

(III) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party. 

(IV) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the third 

entity. 

(V) The entity is a post-employment defined benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the 

reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity. If the reporting entity is itself such 

a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity. 

(VI) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a). 

(VII) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of the key 

management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). 

 

 

2.3. Business combinations 

No business combinations occurred in 2013 and 2012.  
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3 Statement of financial position 

 
3.1.  Investment property 

 

2013 

 
Residential and 

Commercial 
Land bank Total 

Balance at 1 January 2013 7 353 119 53 990 7 407 109 

Additions 10 144 34 810 44 954 

Disposals  -214 238 -- -214 238 

Valuation gain 334 044 -- 334 044 

Balance at 31 December 2013 7 483 069 88 800 7 571 869 

 

2012 

  
Residential and 

Commercial 
Land bank Total 

Balance at 1 January 2012 6 820 017 48 533 6 868 550 

Additions 16 573 -- 16 573 

Disposals  -215 180 -- -215 180 

Valuation gain 731 709 5 457 737 166 

Balance at 31 December 2012 7 353 119 53 990 7 407 109 

 

Investment property represents housing portfolio in following locations: Praha – Letňany, Ústí nad Labem, Česká 
Lípa, Třinec, Slaný, Teplice, Most, Děčín, Liberec, Jablonec nad Nisou, Nové Město pod Smrkem and Litvínov.  

Disposals of flats from residential portfolio represents mainly sale of apartments in Praha – Letňany. For details 
refer to note 4.5. 
The Company leases over 12,5 thousands flats to tenants with average occupancy of 75% (2012: 75%). More than 

70% of rent contracts are concluded for indefinite period. The rent contracts mostly include the cancellation 

period of three months and the cancelled contracts are replaced by the new ones continuously. 

Major part of investment property is pledged as a security for issued bonds (note 3.8). 

 

Investment property valuation  
Real estate market in the Czech Republic is considered small, where transactions with real estate portfolio of 

similar size owned by the Company are unusual. Global volatility of the financial system was reflected also in 

residential and commercial real estate markets when already low number of transactions in the sector further 

decreased after 2008. Therefore, in arriving at the estimates of market values of investment property as at 

31 December 2012 and 31 December 2013, the reliance placed on comparable historical transactions was limited. 

Due to the need to use the market knowledge and professional judgement of the valuers in greater extent, there 

was higher degree of uncertainty than which would exist in a more developed and active markets.  

Government-managed deregulation of rent charges in apartments of the Company ended as of 31 December 

2010. Already during 2010 the Company prepared the strategy of increase in rent after the deregulation where 

it individually agreed with its tenants to increase the rent gradually over 4 to 8 years while making the increase 

socially acceptable. 100% of the Company’s apartments were rented in these post-regulated regime as at 

31 December 2013. 
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The significant assumptions made in relation to valuation of buildings are set out below: 

 

 31/12/2013  31/12/2012  

Long-term vacancy rate 20,96%  19,63%  

Discount rate 8,30%  8,00%  

Loss on receivables 4,24%  4,11%  

 

Net valuation gain on investment property in 2013 reflected mainly capital expenditures on residential portfolio 
performed by the Company. Gradual increase in rental income and increase in occupancy also had positive 
impact on fair value of rental portfolio. Net valuation gain is mainly attributable to increase in fair value of flats 
in clusters located in Třinec and Ústí nad Labem. This gain was partially offset by decrease in fair value of 
residential portfolio in clusters located in Litvínov – Janov and Praha – Letňany. 
 

Fair value measurement of investment property 

 

3.1.1. Fair value hierarchy 

The Company’s investment properties were valued at 31 December 2013 by independent professionally qualified 
valuers, who hold a recognised relevant professional qualification and have recent experience in the locations 
and segments of the investment properties valued. For all investment properties, their current use equates to 
the highest and best use. 

The Company’s finance department includes a team that reviews the valuations performed by the independent 
valuers for financial reporting purposes. 

The independent valuer provides appraisal of the Company´s investment property annually. 

At 1 January 2013 the fair value measurement for investment property of TCZK 7 407 109 has been categorized 
as Level 3 recurring fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used in accordance with IFRS 13. 
There were no transfers between Levels during the year. 

 

3.1.2. Level 3 fair value 

Reconciliation from the opening balances at 1 January 2013 to the closing balances at 31 December 2013 for 
Level 3 fair values is shown in the following table: 

Balance at 1 January 2013 7 407 109 

Additions 44 954 

Disposals  -214 238 

Changes in fair value 334 044 

Balance at 31 December 2013 7 571 869 
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3.1.3. Valuation technique and significant unobservable inputs 

  Valuation technique 
Significant 

unobservable inputs 
Range (weighted average) 

Inter-relationship between key 
unobservable inputs and fair 

value measurement 

  
 

 
The estimated fair value would 

increase (decrease) if: 

Residential and 
Commercial portfolio 

DCF method (refer 
below) 

Estimated rental value 
per sqm  

468 CZK/sqm - 1 517 
CZK/sqm (830 CZK/sqm) 

Estimated rental value were 
higher (lower) 

  Vacancy rate  3,2%-73% (20,03%) 
Vacancy rate were lower 

(higher) 

  Exit yield 5%-8% (7,46%) Exit yield were lower (higher) 

  Discount rate 5,5%-9% (8,40%) 
Discount rate were lower 

(higher) 

  Doubtful debtors 1%-5% (4,29%) 
Share of doubtful debtors were 

lower (higher) 
     

Land bank 
Market comparable 

method (refer below) Sales price per sqm 
1 300 CZK/sqm-4 100 

CZK/sqm (2 717 CZK/sqm) 
Expected sales price per sqm 

were higher (lower) 

 

Discounted cash flow method (DCF) – application guidance provided by IVSC, www.ivsc.org 

Under the DCF method, a property’s fair value is estimated using explicit assumptions regarding the benefits and 
liabilities of ownership over the asset’s life including an exit or terminal value. As an accepted method within the 
income approach to valuation, the DCF method involves the projection of a series of cash flows on a real property 
interest. To this projected cash flow series, an appropriate, market-derived discount rate is applied to establish 
the present value of the income stream associated with the real property.  

The duration of the cash flow and the specific timing of inflows and outflows are determined by events such as 
rent reviews, lease renewal and related lease up periods, re-letting, redevelopment, or refurbishment. The 
appropriate duration is typically driven by market behaviour that is a characteristic of the class of real property. 
In the case of investment properties, periodic cash flow is typically estimated as gross income less vacancy, non 
recoverable expenses, collection losses, lease incentives, maintenance cost, agent and commission costs and 
other operating and management expenses. The series of periodic net operating incomes, along with an estimate 
of the terminal value anticipated at the end of the projection period, is then discounted.  

 
Market comparable method – application guidance provided by IVSC, www.ivsc.org 

Under the market comparable method (or market comparable approach), a property’s fair value is estimated 
based on comparable transactions. 

The market comparable approach is based upon the principle of substitution under which a potential buyer will 
not pay more for the property than it will cost to buy a comparable substitute property. In theory, the best 
comparable sale would be an exact duplicate of the subject property and would indicate, by the known selling 
price of the duplicate, the price for which the subject property could be sold. The unit of comparison applied is 
the price per square metre (sqm).  
 

3.1.4. Sensitivity analysis 

 

The sensitivity analysis on change in assumptions of investment property valuation (except from land bank) is 
included below: 

 

  
Current 

yield 
Current market 

value 
Increased yield 

by 25 bp 
Market value upon 

increased yield 

P/L effect 
before 

taxation 

2013 6,42% 7 483 069 6,67% 7 200 960 -282 109 

2012 6,32% 7 353 119 6,57% 7 077 032 -276 087 

 
 



 
 

25 

 

CPI BYTY, a.s. 
 

Notes to the financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2013  
in thousand Czech crowns (TCZK) 

 
The previous table can be interpreted as follows: 31 December 2013, if respective yield was of 25 bp higher / 
lower and all other variables would remain constant, then the annual profit before tax in 2013 was of TCZK 282 
109 lower / TCZK 282 109 higher due to change of net valuation gain on investment property. 

 

  
Current 

average yield 
Annualised 

rental income 
Decreased rental 

income by 10% 

Market value upon 
decreased rental 

income 

P/L effect 
before 

taxation 

2013 6,42% 480 304 432 274 6 733 240 -749 829 

2012 6,32% 464 961 418 465 6 621 280 -731 839 

 
The previous table can be interpreted as follows: 31 December 2013, if respective rental income was of 10 
percent higher / lower and all other variables would remain constant, then the annual profit before tax in 2013 
was of TCZK 749 829 higher / TCZK 749 829 lower due to change in the net valuation gain on investment property. 

 

 

3.2. Property, plant and equipment 

 

2013 

  Finance leases Total 

Cost   

Balance at 1 January 2013 1 683 1 683 

Balance at 31 December 2013 1 683 1 683 

Depreciation and impairment losses   

Balance at 1 January 2013 384 384 

Depreciation for the period 337 337 

Balance at 31 December 2013 721 721 

Carrying amounts     

 At 1 January 2013  1 299 1 299 

 At 31 December 2013  962 962 
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2012 

  Finance leases Total 

Cost   

Balance at 1 January 2012 1 669 1 669 

Additions 976 976 

Disposals  -962 -962 

Balance at 31 December 2012 1 683 1 683 

Depreciation and impairment losses   

Balance at 1 January 2012 1 079 1 079 

Depreciation for the period 267 267 

Accumulated depreciation to disposals -962 -962 

Balance at 31 December 2012 384 384 

Carrying amounts     

 At 1 January 2012  590 590 

 At 31 December 2012  1 299 1 299 

 

 

3.3.  Loans provided 

 

Current 

  2013 2013 2012 2012 

  Balance Average interest 
rate 

Balance Average interest 
rate 

Loans provided to related parties (1) 28 709 8,00% 15 165 -- 

Loans provided to third parties -- -- -- -- 

Total 28 709 -- 15 165 -- 

 

Balances of current loans include loan principal, unpaid interest related to current loans and current portion of 
unpaid interest related to non-current loans which is expected to be paid within 12 months. 

 

The Company provided in 2013 new loan facility of TCZK 24 000 to related party (see note 7). The loan bears 
fixed interest of 8% p.a. 
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3.4. Trade and other receivables 
 

Current 
  2013 2012 

Trade receivables due from related parties -- 1 776 

Trade receivables due from third parties (1) 350 494 332 780 

Advances paid (2) 123 212 129 610 

Prepaid expenses 32 161 40 746 

Receivables due from cession from third parties -- 6 733 

Receivables due from employees 9 41 

Receivables due from cession from related parties (3) 101 745 557 794 

Receivables from sale of subsidiaries from related parties -- 4 657 

Other receivables due from third parties 418 431 

Total current trade and other receivables 608 039 1 074 568 

Impairment to trade receivables due from third parties (4) -128 331 -100 039 

Total impairment to trade receivables 128 331 100 039 

Total trade and other receivables net of impairment 479 708 974 529 

 
(1) Trade receivables due from third parties represent primarily trade receivables from tenants from invoicing 

of basic rent of TCZK 166 946 (2012: TCZK 144 079) and from invoicing of utilities of TCZK 166 515             
(2012: TCZK 176 400). Receivables from invoicing of utilities will be settled against Advances received from 
tenants when final amount of utilities consumption is known and final utilities invoicing is performed.  

(2) Advances paid represent advances for utilities paid by the Company for which final invoice has not been 
received from utility providers. 

(3) Decrease in Receivables due from cession from related parties is attributable to offset performed by the 
Company with Czech Property Investments, a.s. In January 2013 the Company and Czech Property 
Investments, a.s. set off their mutual receivables, loans provided, loans received and other payables in total 
amount of TCZK 468 513. 

Receivables due from cession from related parties are described in note 7.  

(4) The impairment to trade receivables due from third parties is created for trade receivables from tenants 
overdue more than 181 days. Creation of adjustments for receivables is recognized in statement of 
comprehensive income as impairment loss within Other expenses. 

 

3.5. Cash and cash equivalents 
 

  2013 2012 

Bank balances 107 146 188 909 

Cash on hand 634 769 

Total 107 780 189 678 

 
In order to secure the obligations arising from bonds issued in 2013 the Company pledged certain bank accounts 
as collateral. Total bank balance on these accounts represents TCZK 1 645 as at 31 December 2013. 
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3.6. Equity 
 

Changes in equity 
The statement of changes in equity is presented on the face of the financial statements. 

 

Share capital 

 

 
 

2013 2012 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basis) 20 20 

Dilution -- -- 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted) 20 20 

Nominal value of ordinary share (in CZK) 100 000 100 000 

Share capital  2 000 2 000 

 
The ordinary shares were issued in form of certified bearer ordinary shares. The issued share capital was fully 
paid up. No new shares were issued in 2013 and 2012. 

 

Other reserves 

 

  2013 2012 

Merger reserve (1) 2 119 182 2 119 182 

Legal reserve 400 400 

Total other reserves 2 119 582 2 119 582 

   
(1) Merger reserve relates to mergers of the Company carried out in 2010. The Company recorded equity 

reserve of TCZK 1 632 237 related to the merger of SPOBYT, a.s. and Byty Česká Lípa, a.s. with the Company 
and equity reserve of TCZK 486 945 related to the merger of RLRE Tellmer Property s.r.o. with the Company.  

 

Earnings per share 

 

 
 

2013 2012 

Net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders for the year (in TCZK) 81 832 390 388 

Earnings per share (in CZK) - basic 4 091 600 19 519 400 

Earnings per share (in CZK) - diluted 4 091 600 19 519 400 

 
 

Dividends  

The Company paid dividends of TCZK 140 000 from retained earnings to parent company in 2013. It represents 
CZK 7 000 000 dividend per share. In 2012 the Company declared dividends of TCZK 1 930 000 (CZK 96 500 000 
dividend per share). 
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3.7.  Interest-bearing loans and borrowings 

 

Non-current 
  

2013 2012 

Loans from related parties (1) 145 311 55 236 

Bank loans (2) -- 2 816 539 

Finance lease liabilities 450 754 

Total 145 761 2 872 529 

 

Current 
  

2013 2012 

Loans from related parties (3) 13 573 176 185 

Loans from third parties 15 788 15 091 

Bank loans (2) -- 131 032 

Finance lease liabilities 303 283 

Total 29 664 322 591 

 
(1) Increase in non-current loans from related parties is attributable to new loan facility provided by parent 

company with maximum credit limit of TCZK 250 000. Loan bears fixed interest of 9% p.a. The loan maturity 
is 31 December 2019. 

(2) The bank loan was fully repaid in May 2013. As the Company issued new bonds in 2013 in cooperation with 
Raiffeisenbank a.s. (note 3.8) the proceeds from bonds were primarily used to refinance currently existing 
bank loans of the Company.   

(3) Decrease in current loans from related parties reflects offset performed by the Company and Czech Property 
Investments, a.s.  

 

The detailed split of interest-bearing loans and borrowings as at 31 December 2013 can be summarized as 
follows:  
 

  
Currency Nominal interest rate Due within 

1 year 
Due within 

1- 5 years 
Due in 

following years 
Total 

Loans from related parties       

Czech Property Investments, a.s. CZK 9,00% p.a. 13 573 -- 145 311 158 884 

Loans from third parties  -- -- -- --  

Loans from third parties CZK 5% p.a. 15 788 -- -- 15 788 

Finance lease  -- -- -- --  

Finance lease (cars) CZK 6,16–7,58% p.a. 303 450 -- 753 

Total     29 664 450 145 311 175 425 
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The detailed split of interest-bearing loans and borrowings as at 31 December 2012 can be summarized as 
follows:  
 

  
Currency Nominal interest 

rate 
Due within 

1 year 
Due within 

1- 5 years 
Due in following 

years 
Total 

Loans from related parties       

Czech Property Investments, a.s.  CZK 5% - 6% p.a. 176 185 -- 55 236 231 421 

Loans from third parties       

Loans from third parties   15 091 -- -- 15 091 

Bank loans       

Raiffeisenbank a.s. CZK 
 1M PRIBOR + 

(2,5% - 4,2%) p.a.  131 032 1 201 248 1 615 291 2 947 571 

Finance lease       

Finance lease (cars) CZK 6,16 - 7,58% p.a. 283 754 -- 1 037 

Total     322 591 1 202 002 1 670 527 3 195 120 

 
 

3.8. Bonds issued 

  31 December 2013 31 December 2012 

  No. of bonds issued Value No. of bonds issued Value 

Non-current liabilities     

Proceeds from issued bonds -CPI BYTY 2,50/15 300 000 300 000 -- -- 

Proceeds from issued bonds -CPI BYTY 3,50/17 500 000 500 000 -- -- 

Proceeds from issued bonds -CPI BYTY 4,80/19 900 000 900 000 -- -- 

Proceeds from issued bonds -CPI BYTY 5,80/21 1 300 000 1 300 000 -- -- 

Less: transaction cost -- -66 211 -- -- 

Total CPI BYTY  2 933 789 -- -- 

Total non-current bonds issued -- 2 933 789 -- -- 

Current liabilities     

Accrued interest bonds - CPI BYTY  95 334   

Total current bonds issued -- 95 334 -- -- 

Total bonds issued -- 3 029 123 -- -- 

 
The Company issued new bonds on 7 May 2013. 
The CPI BYTY bonds were issued as a part of a bond programme, with an overall volume of TCZK 3 800 000. The 
overall volume of any bonds issued under the bond programme must not at any time exceed TCZK 3 000 000. 
The separation into 4 issues enabled investors to choose the duration of  their investment,  from  2  to  maximum 
8  years,  with  fixed  coupons  ranging from 2,5% to 5,8 %.   
Bonds were issued as bearer notes in listed form. The prospectus and the issuing terms were approved by the 
decision  of  the  Czech National Bank on  30  April  2013,  reference  number 2013/5158/570 that came into force 
on 30 April 2013.   
CPI BYTY bonds were accepted for trading at Prague Stock Exchange.  
 
The detailed breakdown of individual issues is as follows: 
 
CPI BYTY 2,50/15, ISIN CZ0003510679 
CPI BYTY 2,50/15 bonds were issued on 7 May 2013. The bonds mature on 7 May 2015. The nominal value of 
each bond is CZK 1 000.  Bonds bear fixed interest rate of 2,50 % per annum.  
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Interests are due annually on 7 May. 
 
CPI BYTY 3,50/17, ISIN CZ0003510687 
CPI BYTY 3,50/17 bonds were issued on 7 May 2013. The bonds mature on 7 May 2017. The nominal value of 
each bond is CZK 1 000.  Bonds bear fixed interest rate of 3,50 % per annum.  
Interests are due annually on 7 May. 
 
CPI BYTY 4,80/19, ISIN CZ0003510695 
CPI BYTY 4,80/19 bonds were issued on 7 May 2013. The bonds mature on 7 May 2019. The nominal value of 
each bond is CZK 1 000.  Bonds bear fixed interest rate of 4,80 % per annum.  
Interests are due annually on 7 May. 
 
CPI BYTY 5,80/21, ISIN CZ0003510703 
CPI BYTY 5,80/21 bonds were issued on 7 May 2013. The bonds mature on 7 May 2021. The nominal value of 
each bond is CZK 1 000.  Bonds bear fixed interest rate of 5,80 % per annum.  
Interests are due annually on 7 May. 

 
 
Collateral 

In order to secure the obligations arising from bonds issued the Company pledged following assets as collateral: 

 investment property; 

 receivables resulting from insurance agreement; 

 bank accounts receivables; 

 shares in CPI BYTY. 

 
Subordination of CPI a.s. liabilities 
In order to secure the obligations arising from bonds issued the CPI a.s. concluded agreement on subordination 
of liabilities to Raiffeisenbank a.s. of all entities in which the CPI a.s. has direct or indirect share.  

 
Covenants 
Issued bonds are subject to a number of covenants. According to bonds prospectus the covenant ratios will be 
calculated firstly for the year ended 31 December 2014. 
 

3.9. Trade and other payables 
 

Non-current 
  2013 2012 

Payables from retentions 43 348 80 937 

Total 43 348 80 937 

 

Payables from retentions relates mainly to renovation of residential portfolio performed by suppliers. Balance in 
2013 decreased significantly compared to 2012 as a result of the substitution by bank guarantees on behalf of 
retentions.   
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Current 
  2013 2012 

Trade payables due to related parties 215 533 

Trade payables due to third parties 131 671 136 834 

Advances received from tenants (1) 271 605 279 116 

Value added tax payables 9 353 11 695 

Rental deposits from tenants (2) 31 490 32 582 

Payables due to employees, social security and health insurance, employees 
income tax 2 925 3 494 

Other payables due to related parties (3) -- 335 723 

Other payables due to third parties 198 169 

Total 447 457 800 146 

 

(1) Advances received from tenants represent payments received from tenants for utilities that will be settled 
against trade receivables when final amount of utilities consumption is known and final respective invoicing 
is performed. 

 
(2) Deposits from tenants represent payables of the Company from received rental related deposits. As 

respective rental contracts can be terminated by tenants on short notice, the deposits are classified as 
current payables. 

 
(3) Decrease in Other payables due to related parties reflect offset of mutual receivables and liabilities 

performed by the Company and Czech Property Investments, a.s. as described in note 3.4. 

 

 

3.10. Provisions 

  2013 2012 

Balance at 1 January 4 542 1 596 

Provisions created in the period -- 2 946 

Provisions used in the period -976 -- 

Balance at 31 December 3 566 4 542 

 

 

3.11. Deferred tax  
                        Assets                           Liabilities                        Net 

  2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012 

Investment property -- -- -1 154 687 -1 117 915 -1 154 687 -1 117 915 

Provisions 677 -- -- -12 437 677 -12 437 

Other items 177 244 -183 -247 -6 -3 

Tax assets/(liabilities) 854 244 -1 154 870 -1 130 599 -1 154 016 -1 130 355 

Set-off of tax -- -- -- -- -- -- 

Net tax assets/(liabilities) 854 244 -1 154 870 -1 130 599 -1 154 016 -1 130 355 
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Movement in deferred tax balances 
 

2013 
  Balance at  

1 January 2013 
Recognised in profit 

or loss 
Balance at  

31 December 2013 

Investment property -1 117 915 -36 772 -1 154 687 

Provisions -12 437 13 114 677 

Other items -3 -3 -6 

Total -1 130 355 -23 661 -1 154 016 

 

2012 
  Balance at 

1 January 2012 
Recognised in profit 

or loss 
Balance at 31 

December 2012 

Investment property -1 005 115 -112 800 -1 117 915 

Provisions -6 348 -6 089 -12 437 

Other items -- -3 -3 

Total -1 011 463 -118 892 -1 130 355 

 

Unrecognized deferred tax asset 

Deferred tax assets were not recognized with respect following item: 

  2013 2012 

Tax losses carried-forward 17 871 22 030 

Total 17 871 22 030 

 
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised because of uncertainty of future taxable profits that can be against 
these profits utilized. The tax losses will expire in 2017 at the latest.  
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4 Statement of comprehensive income 
 

4.1. Gross rental income 
 
  2013 2012 

Total gross rental income 480 304 464 961 

 
Gross rental income includes income from rental of flats of TCZK 447 187 (2012: TCZK 430 113) and income from 
rental of non-residential premises of TCZK 33 117 (2012: TCZK 34 848).  
 
Gross rental income is derived from a large number of tenants and no single tenant or group of tenants contribute 
more than 10% to the Company’s gross rental income.  
 

 

4.2. Net service charge expense 
 

  2013 2012 

Service charge income 9 001 10 680 

Service charge expenses -14 600 -23 135 

Total net service charge expense -5 599 -12 455 

 
 

4.3. Property operating expenses 
 

  2013 2012 

Repairs and maintenance -325 872 -418 686 

Utility services for vacant premises -73 528 -45 567 

Personnel expenses -38 779 -37 439 

Real estate tax -5 402 -5 534 

Property insurance expenses -2 085 -3 213 

Letting fee, other fees paid to real estate agents -- -107 

Depreciation and amortisation expense -337 -267 

Other expenses -861 -338 

Total property operating expenses -446 864 -511 151 

 
 
Utility services for vacant premises 

  2013 2012 

Material consumption -2 378 -2 234 

Energy consumption -57 571 -31 268 

Waste management -2 069 -3 583 

Security services -7 488 -4 404 

Cleaning services -4 022 -4 078 

Total utility services for vacant premises -73 528 -45 567 
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Personnel expenses 

  2013 2012 

Wages and salaries -28 496 -27 662 

Social and health security contributions -8 917 -8 496 

Other social expenses -1 366 -1 281 

Total personnel expenses -38 779 -37 439 

 
 

4.4. Net valuation gain on investment property 

 

  2013 2012 

Valuation gains   

Residential 334 044 731 709 

Land bank -- 5 457 

Total valuation gains 334 044 737 166 

Total valuation losses -- -- 

Net valuation gain 334 044 737 166 

 
 

4.5. Gain / (Loss) on the disposal of investment property 
 

  2013 2012 

Proceeds from sale of investment property 168 271 223 119 

Carrying value of investment property sold -214 238 -215 180 

Related cost (mainly real estate transfer tax) -8 952 -7 615 

Total -54 919 324 

 
 

4.6. Administrative expenses 
 

  2013 2012 

Telecommunication fees -2 042 -2 212 

Legal services -903 -623 

Accounting and other services - based on mandate contracts - internal -122 -12 

Audit, tax and advisory services -2 924 -5 109 

Advertising expenses -1 297 -212 

Lease expenses -1 820 -1 824 

Other administrative expenses -634 -3 204 

Total administrative expenses -9 742 -13 196 
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4.7. Other income 

 

  2013 2012 

Income from penalties 4 142 4 626 

Insurance claims 1 386 756 

Other (1) 2 930 526 

Total other income 8 458 5 908 

 
(1) “Other income” includes gain of TCZK 2 823 relating to newly identified plots. As a result of detailed analysis 

of fixed assets register the Company has recognized new plots in its ownership. These plots are disclosed 
within 2013 additions.  

 
 

4.8. Other expenses 

 

  2013 2012 

Impairment of assets (1) -28 292 -22 435 

Change in provisions 976 -2 946 

Write-off receivables -1 198 -1 842 

Taxes and fees (2) 284 -1 811 

Penalties -231 -272 

Tax non-deductible VAT expenses  -7 425 -1 045 

Other -864 -359 

Total other expenses -36 750 -30 710 

 
(1) Impairment of assets relates to impairment loss on trade and other receivables. For further information 

related to monitoring of credit risk exposures refer to note 5.2. 
(2) Income related to taxes and fees is attributable to refund of taxes and fees paid by the Company in prior 

periods. 
 
 

4.9. Finance income 

 

  2013 2012 

Interest income on loans and receivables 143 1 

Bank interest income 13 564 

Total finance income 156 565 

 

4.10. Finance costs 

 

  2013 2012 

Interest expense related to bank and non-bank loans (1) -50 803 -135 685 

Interest expense on bonds issued (3.8) -101 209 -- 

Other finance cost (2) -11 583 -1 707 

Total finance cost -163 595 -137 392 
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(1) Decrease in interest on bank and non-bank loans is primarily attributable to prepayment of the bank loan by 
the Company in May 2013 (note 3.7)  

(2) Significant increase in Other finance cost relates mainly to bank arrangement fee released in connection 
with the repayment of the bank loan. Bank loan arrangement fee was deferred and amortized over the 
duration of underlying bank loan by the Company. As a result of bank loan early repayment the remaining 
amount of arrangement fee (TCZK 10 742) was charged to statement of comprehensive income in 2013.  

 

 

4.11. Income tax recognised in profit or loss 
 

  2013 2012 

Current income tax expense   

Current year -- -- 

Adjustment for prior years -- 603 

Total -- 603 

Deferred income tax expense   

Origination and reversal of temporary differences -23 661 -118 892 

Total -23 661 -118 892 

Income tax from continuing operations recognised in profit or loss -23 661 -118 289 

Total income tax recognised in profit or loss -23 661 -118 289 

 
The tax rate of 19% was used for the calculation of deferred tax in 2013 and 2012. 
 

 

4.12. Reconciliation of effective tax rate 

 
  2013 2012 

Profit for the period 81 832 390 388 

Total income tax expense recognised in profit or loss -23 661 -118 289 

Profit before income tax 105 493 508 677 

Nominal corporate income tax rate 19% 19% 

Income tax using the nominal corporate income tax rate -20 044 -96 649 

Non-deductible expense -8 235 -26 128 

Tax exempt income 459 12 204 

Change in permanent tax differences -- -7 716 

Change in unrecognised deferred assets from tax losses 4 159 -- 

Income tax expense -23 661 -118 289 
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5 Financial risks management 
 

5.1. Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk refers to the possibility of the Company being unable to meet its cash obligations mainly in relation 
to the settlement of amounts due to suppliers and bank loans and facilities. The Company monitors its risk to a 
shortage of funds using different liquidity planning tools. These tools comprise e.g. following activities: 

 maintain a sufficient balance of liquid funds 

 flexible utilization of bank loan, overdrafts and facilities 

 projection of future cash flows from operating activities 
 

The following table summarizes the maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities based on contractual 
undiscounted payments including accrued interest. The table reflects the earliest settlement of Company’s 
liabilities based on contractual maturity.  

 

At 31 December 2013 

  

Carrying 
amount 

< 3 month 3-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years > 5 year Total 

Loans from third parties 15 788 15 985 -- -- -- -- 15 985 

Loans from related parties 158 884 16 842 9 808 13 078 39 234 158 389 237 351 

Bonds issued 3 095 334* 131 733 109 195 745 853 1 011 618 1 383 403 3 381 802 

Finance lease liabilities 753 86 252 291 183 0 812 

Trade and other payables 490 805 78 065 366 380 366 14 504 31 490 490 805 

Total 3 761 564 242 711 485 635 759 588 1 065 539 1 573 282 4 126 755 

* without transactions cost already paid 

 
 

At 31 December 2012 

  

Carrying 
amount 

< 3 month 3-12 months 1-2 years 2-5 years > 5 year Total 

Loans from third parties 15 091 15 280 -- -- -- -- 15 280 

Loans from related parties 231 421 178 493 -- -- -- 75 497 253 990 

Bank loans  2 947 571 32 579 101 887 142 971 1 197 440 2 290 483 3 765 360 

Finance lease liabilities 1 037 70 225 325 545 -- 1 165 

Trade and other payables 881 083 443 390 356 756 -- 80 937 -- 881 083 

Total 4 076 203 669 812 458 868 143 296 1 278 922 2 365 980 4 916 878 
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5.2. Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that counterparty will not meet its obligations under a financial instrument or customer 
contract, leading to a financial loss. The Company is exposed to credit risk mainly from its rental activities 
(primarily for trade receivables) and from its financing activities, including provided loans, purchased bonds, 
deposits with banks and financial institutions and other financial instruments. 

Credit risks are addressed by top management through efficient operation of the sales, collection, legal and 
related departments to prevent excessive increase of bad debts. At the date of the statement of financial position 
there are no significant concentrations of credit risk to any single customer or group of customers. The maximum 
exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset in the statement of financial 
position. 

The Company limits the risk of rent receivables becoming doubtful by requesting the tenants to pay deposits 

before moving in, which gives the Company a chance to set off any possible debts from tenants against these 

deposits if the tenant is unable to settle the debts himself. If the rent is not paid by the tenant, the receivable is 

collected internally. If unsuccessful, the case is handed over to external attorney in order to establish the legal 

basis and make the tenant move out of the apartment. The Company’s tenants are subject to credit verification 

procedures before signing the rent contract. Receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis in order to 

significantly decrease the Company’s exposure to bad debts. A deterioration of regional economic conditions, 

including but not limited to an increase in unemployment and a fall in wages and salaries, may decrease the 

ability or willingness of tenants to pay the rent regularly. The Company maintains the creditor management 

database, creates the segmented reports and performs tenants ratings to identify the risk factors and apply 

suitable measures to eliminate corresponding risks immediately.  

 
Customer credit risk is managed reflecting the Company’s established policy, procedures and control relating to 
customer credit risk management. Credit quality of the customer is assessed based on an extensive credit rating 
scorecard at the time of entering into a rental agreement. Outstanding customer receivables are regularly 
monitored.  
 
The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by the carrying amount of each financial asset 
in the balance sheet. 
 
The following tables present financial assets as of 31 December 2013 reflecting their classification based on its 
ageing structure and impairment if applicable:   
 
Credit risk concentration at 31 December 2013 

  
Total neither past due 

nor impaired 
Total past due but 

not impaired 
Impaired Total 

Cash and cash equivalents 107 780 -- -- 107 780 

Trade and other receivables 333 341 146 367 128 331 479 708 

Loans provided  24 005 4 704 -- 28 709 

Total 465 126 151 071 128 331 616 197 

 
Breakdown of overdue financial assets which are not impaired at 31 December 2013 

  
Past due 

1-30 days 
Past due 31-

90 days 
Past due 91-

180 days 
Past due 181-

360 days 

Past due 
more than 

360 days  
Total 

Trade and other receivables 16 817 5 500 10 194 12 111 101 745* 146 367 

Loans provided  -- -- -- -- 4 704* 4 704 

Total 16 817 5 500 10 194 12 111 106 449 151 071 

* Not impaired Trade and other receivables and loans provided past due more than 360 days represent receivables to related parties. The 

Company does not expect any potential losses from these receivables. 
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Credit risk concentration at 31 December 2012   

  
Total neither past 
due nor impaired 

Total past due but 
not impaired 

Impaired Total 

Cash and cash equivalents 189 678 -- -- 189 678 

Trade and other receivables 401 372 573 157 100 039 974 529 

Loans provided  -- 15 165 -- 15 165 

Total 591 050 588 322 100 039 1 179 372 

 
 

Breakdown of overdue financial assets which are not impaired at 31 December 2012   

  
Past due 1-

30 days 
Past due 31-

90 days 
Past due 91-

180 days 
Past due 181-360 

days 
Past due more 
than 360 days  

Total 

Trade and other receivables 6 863 1 171 513 320 319 244 291 573 157 

Loans provided  -- -- -- -- 15 165 15 165 

Total 6 863 1 171 513 320 319 259 456 588 322 

 

 

5.3. Capital management 

 

The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders; and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. 

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholder, return capital to shareholder, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt. 

The Company as property investor is mainly influenced by the fact that it leverages its project financing by using 
bank debts. There is no real seasonality impact on its financial position but rather a volatility of financial markets 
might positively or negatively influence Company’s financial position. 

No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes during the year ended 31 December 2013. 

The Company monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as total debt divided by 
total equity. Debt is defined as long-term and short-term liabilities as detailed described in statement of financial 
position. Equity includes all capital and reserves as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position.  

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2013 and at 31 December 2012 were as follows: 

 

Gearing ratio 

  2013 2012 

Debt 4 852 935 5 211 100 

Equity 3 336 093 3 394 261 

Total 145% 154% 

 

 

5.4. Interest rate risk 

 

The Company might be exposed to various risks associated with the impact of fluctuations in the prevailing levels 
of market interest rates on its net position and cash flows. Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future 
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates.  
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2013 
As a result of changes in indebtedness structure performed in 2013 the Company is not exposed to any risks 
associated with the impact of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on its net position and 
cash flows as at 31 December 2013. The Company has refinanced existing bank loans bearing variable interest 
rate by new bonds issued. These bonds bear fixed interest rate depending on the bonds maturity. For details 
refer to note 3.8.  
 
2012 

The Company’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates related primarily to the Company’s long-
term assets and liabilities with floating interest rates. These were represented by bank loans, the base for interest 
rates changes were the values at 31 December 2012.  

 

Interest rate risk 2012      

  Effective interest rate 
Nominal / 

carrying amount 
Interest calculated 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 4,18% -2 947 571 -123 208 

Total   -2 947 571 -123 208 

 

The following table shows results of sensitivity analysis in financial instruments to changes in interest rates.  

 

Interest rate risk 2012 - sensitivity analysis      

  rate + 10% 
Interest 

calculated 
P/L effect rate - 10% 

Interest 
calculated 

P/L effect 

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 4,60% -135 529 -12 321 3,76% -110 888 12 321 

Total   -135 529 -12 321   -110 888 12 321 

 

The previous table can be interpreted as follows: 31 December 2012, if respective interest rate was of 10 percent 
higher / lower and all other variables would remain constant, then the annual profit before tax was about TCZK 
12 321 lower / TCZK 12 321 higher due to changed interest rate. 

 

5.5. Foreign currency risk 

 

The Company is not exposed to any foreign currency risk. All transactions are denominated in Czech Crowns. 

 

 

5.6. Financial instruments and fair values  

  

Categories of financial instruments   

Financial assets of the Company comprise current loans provided, trade and other receivables and cash and cash 
equivalents, which are all classified as loans and receivables.   

Financial liabilities of the Company comprise interest bearing loans and borrowings, bonds issued and trade and 
other payables, which are classified as other financial liabilities.  

The carrying values of these financial assets and liabilities approximate their fair value, with the exception of 
bonds issued.  
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The fair values of financial assets and liabilities together with the carrying amounts shown in the statement of 
financial position are as follows: 

  Carrying amount                                                  Fair value 

 2013 2012 2013 2012 

Financial assets     

Loans provided 28 709 15 165 28 709 15 165 

Trade and other receivables 479 708 974 529 479 708 974 529 

Cash and cash equivalents 107 780 189 678 107 780 189 678 

 616 197 1 179 372 616 197 1 179 372 

Financial liabilities     

Interest bearing loans and borrowings 175 425 3 195 120 175 425 3 195 120 

Bonds issued 3 029 123 -- 2 932 312 -- 

Liabilities from derivatives -- -- -- -- 

Trade and other payables 490 805 881 083 490 805 881 083 

Bank overdraft -- -- -- -- 

 3 695 353 4 076 203 3 598 542 4 076 203 

 

 

Fair value hierarchy 

 
A number of the Company´s accounting policies and disclosures require the measurement of fair value, both 
financial and non-financial assets and liabilities.  
 
Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. The fair value of asset or a liability is measured using the 
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market 
participants act in their economic best interest.  
 
Fair values are categorized, in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 13, into different levels in a fair value 
hierarchy based on the inputs used in the valuation techniques as follows: 

(1) Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
(2) Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices) 
(3) Level 3: valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 

measurement is observable.  

 
As  at  31  December  2013 and 2012,  the  Company  held  no  financial  instruments  carried  at  fair  value  in  
the statement of financial position. 

Information regarding the fair value measurement and fair value hierarchy of investment property refer to note 
3.1    
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6 Contingent assets and liabilities 

 

6.1. Contingent assets  

Management of the Company is not aware of existence of any contingent assets as at 31 December 2013. 

 

6.2. Contingent liabilities 

The Company does not have in evidence any contingent liabilities. No legal proceeding is active the result of 
which would influence financial statements and the Company is not aware about any potential enter upon the 
law-suit. 
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7 Related party transactions 

 

The Company has a related party relationships with its board members, executive management, shareholders 
and parties in which they held controllability or significant influence or are joint ventures. 

 

7.1. Related party transactions 

 

Current loans provided to related parties as at 31 December 

Current portion of the loans provided includes primarily unpaid interest from non-current loans and debentures 
which is expected to be paid within 12 months. 

 

  2013 2012 

Czech Property Investments, a.s. 4 704 15 165 

U svatého Michala, a.s. 24 005 -- 

Total loans provided to related parties 28 709 15 165 

 
Current receivables due from related parties as at 31 December 

  2013 2012 

Trade receivables   

JUDr. Radovan Vítek -- 203 

CPI Orlová, a.s. -- 97 

CPI - Facility, a.s. -- 84 

BPT Development, a. s. -- 54 

Czech Property Investments, a.s. -- 1 338 

Total trade receivables -- 1 776 

Advances paid   

Hraničář, a.s. 411 420 

Other receivables   

Czech Property Investments, a.s. 101 607 562 451 

HD Investment s.r.o. 138 -- 

Total other receivables 101 745 562 451 

Total current receivables due from related parties 102 156 564 647 

 
Loans from related parties as at 31 December 2013 

  < 1 year 2-5 years > 5 let years Total 

Czech Property Investments, a.s. 13 573 -- 145 311 158 884 

Total loans from related parties 13 573 -- 145 311 158 884 

 
Loans from related parties as at 31 December 2012 

  < 1 year 2-5 years > 5 let years Total 

Czech Property Investments, a.s. 176 185 -- 55 236 231 421 

Total loans from related parties 176 185 -- 55 236 231 421 
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Current payables due from related parties as at 31 December 

  2013 2012 

Trade payables   

CPI Management, s.r.o. 37 79 

Best Properties South, a.s. 3 -- 

CPI - Facility, a.s. 72 15 

CPI Services, a.s. 12 -- 

Czech Property Investments, a.s. -73 -- 

Hraničář, a.s. 164 439 

Total trade payables 215 533 

Other payables   

Czech Property Investments, a.s. -- 335 723 

Total current payables due from related parties 215 336 256 

 
During the year, the Company has entered into the following transactions with related parties: 
 
Interest income 

  2013 2012 

HD Investment s.r.o. 138 -- 

U svatého Michala, a.s. 5 -- 

Total interest income related to related parties 143 -- 

 
 Purchases 

  2013 2012 

Czech Property Investments, a.s. -5 -6 

CPI Management, s.r.o. -12 -12 

Hraničář, a.s. -1 493 -1 439 

CPI - Facility, a.s. -177 -131 

Total purchases related to related parties -1 687 -1 588 

 
Interest expense 

  2013 2012 

Czech Property Investments, a.s. -13 573 -9 119 

Total interest expense related to related parties -13 573 -9 119 
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7.2. Remuneration to Board of Directors, Supervisory  Board  and Management  
 

Members of the Supervisory Board, members of the Board of Directors and members of Management received 
neither monetary nor non-monetary income from the company in 2013 and 2012 except for salaries they were 
paid as employees of the Company. The salaries have no variable component. As employees of the Company, 
members of the Supervisory Board, Board of Directors and Management had no advantages or benefits in 
comparison with other employees of the Company in 2013 and 2012. 
 
The following table summarizes remuneration Board of Directors, Supervisory Board and Management of the 

Company: 

 

  2013 2012 

Board of Directors -- -- 

Supervisory Board -- -- 

Management 3 847 3 256 

Total 3 847 3 256 

 

 

8 Subsequent events 
 

Changes in Board of Directors and Supervisory Board  
Milan Trněný was removed as a member of Board of Directors since 15 January 2014, the change in Commercial 
register was made on 15 January 2014. 
Marek Stubley was removed as a chairman of Board of Directors 14 February 2014, the change in Commercial 
register was made on 24 February 2014. 
Kristína Magdolenová was appointed as a chairman of Board of Directors with effective date 15 February 2014, 
the change in Commercial register was made on 24 February 2014. 
Josef Štolba and Pavel Semrád were removed as members of Supervisory Board since 9 February 2014, the 
change in Commercial register was made on 15 January 2014. 
 
No other significant events occurred between the balance sheet date and the date of preparation of the 
Company’s financial statements. 
 
 

Prague, 18 April 2014 

 
 
 
 
Kristína Magdolenová    Zdeněk Havelka 

Chairman of the Board of Directors    Member of the Board of Directors 
CPI BYTY, a.s.     CPI BYTY, a.s. 
 


